
YELLOWKNIFE EDUCATION DISTRICT NO. 1 
BOARD of TRUSTEES 
Regular Board Meeting 

AGENDA 
November 12, 2025 – 6:30 PM 

(In Camera from 6:30 - 7:00 PM) 

Google Meet link: 
https://meet.google.com/apx-ogkd-cku

1. Call to Order - 6:30 PM (in camera until 7:00 PM)
2. Land Acknowledgement

We respectfully acknowledge that we live, work, and learn on Chief Drygeese Territory 
in the Akaitcho region, the traditional territory of the Yellowknives Dene First Nation. 

3. Chairperson’s Opening Remarks
4. Declaration of Conflict of Interest
5. Adoption of Agenda
6. Delegations & Presentations

6.1​ Skills Canada NWT, Melissa Syer  
6.2 Arctic Response, Jessica Morris  

7. Review and Approval of Minutes
7.1.​ October 14, 2025 - Regular Board Meeting Minutes 
7.2.​ October 31, 2025 - Special Board Meeting Minutes 

8. Business Arising from the Minutes
8.1.​ Action Items 
8.2.​ Summary of YK1 Music Programs (A. Supt. Arts) 
8.3.​ School Class Size (A. Supt. Kowlazik)  

9. Trustee Statements
Per Policy 5, Board By Laws: Trustee Statements are individual opinions and are not intended to represent the views of 

the Board.  Trustee statements are not debatable and there will be no opportunity for rebuttal or questions. 
10. Unfinished Business

11. New Business
11.1.​ Organizational Chart - YK1 Staffing Structure & Funding Sources (Trustee Bell)
11.2.​ Five- Year Maintenance Plan Progress and Reassembly of the Facilities Committee

(Trustee Drew)  
11.3.​ Homebase Tier 4 Stabilization Education Partnership between YK1, YCS, Homebase 

(Supt. Zouboules) 

November 12, 2025 Board of Trustees - Regular Board Meeting Agenda  Page 1  of 2 

Page 001 of 198

https://meet.google.com/apx-ogkd-cku?hs=122&authuser=0


11.4.​ Request for International Travel - 2 applications (Supt. Zouboules) 

11.5.​ Workplan (Trustee Bell) 

11.6.​ Public Access to Committee Meetings (Trustee Bell) 

12. Reports
12.1.​ Chairperson’s Report 
12.2.​ Trustee Reports 

12.2.1.​ Trustee Reports 
12.3.​ Canadian School Board Association Report (Terry Brookes) 
12.4.​ Superintendent’s Report 

12.4.1.​ Assistant Superintendent of Curriculum & Learning Report 
12.4.2.​ Assistant Superintendent of HR & Learning Report 
12.4.3.​ Secretary Treasurer Report 
12.4.4.​ Director of Operations Report 

13. Standing Committee Reports
13.1.​ Audit Committee, Chairperson: Trustee Peters 
13.2.​ Committee of the Whole Committee (COW), Chairperson: Trustee Shortt 
13.3.​ Finance & Facilities Committee, Chairperson: Trustee Brookes 
13.4.​ NWTTA Teacher-Board Committee, Chairperson, TBD  
13.5.​ Policy & Governance Committee, Chairperson, TBD 
13.6.​ Public Engagement & Advocacy Committee, Chairperson, Trustee Wasylciw 
13.7.​ USW Board Advisory Committee, Chairperson: TBD 

14. Ad Hoc Committee Reports
14.1.​ Negotiations Committee - NWTTA, Chairperson, Trustee Peters 

14.1.1.​ Approval of NWTTA Collective Agreement (Trustee Peters) 
14.2.​ Negotiations Committee - USW, Chairperson, Trustee Shortt  

15. Announcements – events calendar attached

16. Date and Time of Next Meetings

November 25, 2025        6:00 PM Board Education Information Session 

December 9, 2025        12:10 PM Committee of the Whole (COW) Meeting 

December 9, 2025          6:30 PM   Board - Executive Session (in camera) 

December 9, 2025          7:00 PM  Regular Board Meeting 

17. Chairperson’s Closing Remarks
18. Adjournment

November 12, 2025 Board of Trustees - Regular Board Meeting Agenda  Page 2  of 2 

Page 002 of 198



SKILLS CANADA NWT

@SKILLSNT
WWW.SKILLSCANADANWT.ORG

ENGAGING YOUTH THROUGHOUT THE NORTHWEST
TERRITORIES IN SKILLED TRADES AND TECHNOLOGY FIELDS. 

Page 003 of 198



WHO ARE WE?
Skills Canada Northwest Territories (SC-

NWT) is a non-profit organization

committed to engaging youth in skilled

trades and technology careers. Our

mission is to make these paths

accessible and achievable for all NWT

students through programs & events

supported by industry, government,

labor, and educational institutions.

Skills Canada NWT is a Member Organization of

Skills/Compétences Canada, founded 1989.

There is a Skills Canada MO in every Province and

Territory across Canada.

Page 004 of 198



PROGRAMSPROGRAMS

TRY-A-TRADE

IN-CLASS
PRESENTATIONS

CARDBOARD BOAT
RACES

SKILLS CLUBS
Kits that are available for teachers

to order. These kits focus on a

specific trade, they are meant to

engage our youth in trade focuses

activities. 

Done in person or virtually. These

presentations are meant to help

educate and raise awareness

about our programs and events.

Cardboard Boat Races are making

a comeback! This years event will

be between Range Lake and

Mildred hall kids.

Clubs ran by teachers or trades

professional with funding from

Skills Canada NWT, for grades 8-

12. Apply on our website or via

email.

Page 005 of 198



EVENTSEVENTS
SKILLS CANADA NWT TERRITORIAL COMPETITION

SKILLS CANADA NATIONAL COMPETITION

Page 006 of 198



April 17th 2026

TERRITORIALS 

WHEN?

Summit Air Hangar - YellowknifeWHERE?

Open to all high school students

across the NWT, as well as apprentices

and those in post-secondary

education.

WHO?

The Territorial Competition provides students and apprentices

from across the NWT the opportunity to compete in over 18

different competition categories. It’s a platform to test skills,

gain hands-on experience, and to compete for the chance to

advance to the Skills Canada National Competition. 

Page 007 of 198



Page 008 of 198



COMPETITION CATEGORIES
Automobile Technology

Baking

Cabinetmaking (PS)

Carpentry

Cooking

Electrical Installations (PS)

Fashion Technology

Hairstyling

Heavy Vehicle Technology (PS)

Mobile Robotics

Outdoor Power and Recreation Equipment

Photography

Plumbing (PS)

Public speaking

Traditional Sewing

Video Production

Welding

Workplace Safety

Page 009 of 198



May 26th - 31st, 2026

NATIONALSNATIONALS

WHEN?

TorontoWHERE?

Gold winners of the Territorial

Competition. 

WHO?

The winners from the Territorial competition get the chance to join

Team NWT and to compete against the top competitors from across

Canada. SCNC is about more than winning medals, it is the chance to

see the passion and excitement from young Canadians as they

showcase their skills. This event is inspiring and leaves competitors

wanting to push themselves to learn more. 

Page 010 of 198



TEAM NWTTEAM NWT SCNC REGINA 2025SCNC REGINA 2025

Page 011 of 198



OUR TWO MEDALISTS FROM SCNC 2025

Page 012 of 198



GET INVOLVEDGET INVOLVED

SPONSORS

VOLUNTEERS BOARD MEMBERS

TECH CHAIRS
As a non-profit, we rely on the

generosity of our sponsors to run

our programs and events. 

Check out our Partnership Package

to learn more. 

(We currently have 22+ local businesses

involved with us!)

Volunteers are vital to the success of

our competitions, programs, and

events, without them none of our

programs or events would be

available or possible. 

Play a role in shaping the vision and

impact of SC-NWT. The Board of

Directors, help promote skilled

trades and technology careers in the

NWT through strategic planning,

governance, and advocacy.

Tech Chairs are trades

professionals that run our

competition categories; helping

develop scopes, judging, and

setting up the competitions

during Territorials.

VOLUNTEERS ARE THE FOUNDATION OF SKILLS CANADA NWT!

Page 013 of 198



"COMPETING IN SKILLS CANADA WAS AN AMAZING EXPERIENCE THAT
PUSHED ME OUT OF MY COMFORT ZONE. I LEARNED HOW TO MANAGE
MY TIME UNDER PRESSURE, STAY FOCUSED, AND WORK THROUGH
CHALLENGES — SKILLS I CAN CARRY INTO ANY PART OF MY LIFE. EVEN
THOUGH I’M NOT PURSUING COOKING AS A CAREER, THE COMPETITION
GAVE ME CONFIDENCE, TEAMWORK EXPERIENCE, AND MEMORIES
THAT WILL STAY WITH ME."

RUFTA TESFAMICHAEL
SECONDARY COOKING COMPETITOR

COMPETITOR TESTIMONIAL
Page 014 of 198



"REPRESENTING THE NORTHWEST TERRITORIES IN THE ELECTRICAL
COMPETITION ON THE NATIONAL LEVEL WAS A LIFE-CHANGING
EXPERIENCE. IT TRULY PUSHED ME TO GROW—NOT JUST IN MY
TECHNICAL SKILLS, BUT ALSO IN MY CONFIDENCE AND
PROFESSIONALISM.
BEING PART OF THAT COMPETITION SHOWED ME WHAT'S POSSIBLE
WHEN YOU STAY FOCUSED AND BELIEVE IN YOUR CRAFT. IT DEFINITELY
PLAYED A SIGNIFICANT ROLE IN INSPIRING ME TO PURSUE A CAREER IN
THE ELECTRICAL TRADE AND TO WORK TOWARD STARTING MY OWN
BUSINESS."

NNAMDI VINCENT OKOROEGBU
POST-SECONDARY ELECTRICAL INTALLATIONS COMPETITOR

COMPETITOR TESTIMONIAL
Page 015 of 198



"SKILLS CANADA NWT IS A REALLY FUN EXPERIENCE TO TRY AND I HAD
A REALLY GOOD TIME, TRYING OUT NEW SKILLS THAT WOULD BE
HELPFUL FOR THE FUTURE OR JUST A GOOD SKILL TO HAVE. MAKING
LOTS OF NEW FRIENDS AND MEETING NEW PEOPLE WAS ALSO A FUN
THING I LIKED. I HOPE OTHER KIDS GET THE OPPORTUNITY TO TRY IT
OUT, I’M SURE THEY WOULD ALSO LOVE AND ENJOY IT AS WELL."

SHARIHAN ELBARBARY 
SECONDARY TRADITIONAL SEWING / JOB SKILL

DEMONSTRATION COMPETITOR

COMPETITOR TESTIMONIAL
Page 016 of 198



"BEING ABLE TO COMPETE IN SKILLS FOR CARPENTRY WAS AN
INCREDIBLE EXPERIENCE. IT HELPED ME HONE MY CRAFT, BUILD MORE
CONFIDENCE IN MY TRADE AND WITH WORKING UNDER PRESSURE.
COMPETING IN SKILLS REALLY HELPED SOLIDIFY MY LOVE FOR
CARPENTRY, AND I AM SUPER GRATEFUL THAT I WAS ABLE TO
COMPETE AND EXPERIENCE THAT ENVIRONMENT. I'D RECOMMEND
COMPETING IN SKILLS TO ANYONE LOOKING TO HONE THEIR SKILLS IN
THEIR RESPECTIVE TRADE OR ANYONE WHO IS CONSIDERING PURSUING
A CAREER IN THE TRADES."

WESLEY LAFFERTY 
SECONDARY CARPENTRY COMPETITOR

COMPETITOR TESTIMONIAL
Page 017 of 198



"WE BOTH HAD AN AMAZING TIME DURING THE SKILLS NWT
COMPETITION! ALL THE STAFF WERE SO KIND, SUPER ENCOURAGING
AND SUPPORTIVE! THIS COMPETITION REALLY SPARKED OUR INTEREST
IN BAKING AND HELPED US BECOME MORE CONFIDENT IN OURSELVES.
AFTER COMPETING AND BEING AROUND SO MANY INSPIRING FIGURES,
WE DECIDED TO START OUR OWN BAKING BUSINESS: AURORA BAKES.
FROM THEN WE STARTED TAKING CONTRACTS FROM COMPANIES FOR
BAKING ORDERS, SOLD AT THE FARMER’S MARKET ALL SUMMER AND
STARTED TO SHARE OUR LOVE WITH BAKING! THIS WAS SUCH AN
INCREDIBLE OPPORTUNITY THAT WE BOTH VALUED SO MUCH AND WILL
REMEMBER FOR THE REST OF OUR LIVES!"

TANIKA PIKE & KYA WICKENS 
SECONDARY BAKING COMPETITORS

COMPETITOR TESTIMONIAL
Page 018 of 198



CONTACT US

867-873-8743

WWW.SKILLSCANADANWT.ORG

INFO@SKILLSCANADANWT.ORG

PHONE

WEBSITE
EMAIL

@SKILLSNT SOCIALS

Page 019 of 198



Yellowknife 
Education District 
No.1 Update on 
OH&S Programming
A collective project between:

Page 020 of 198



WSCC Legal Requirement OH&S Regulations:

Requirement for an OHS Program
Section 21 of the OHS Regulations specify when a formal OHS program is required

21. (1) An employer shall provide an occupational health and safety program under
this section if

(a)There are 20 or more workers who work at the work site; or
(b)The employer is so directed by the Chief Safety Officer.

Page 021 of 198



Mandatory 
Components 
of OH&S 
Program:

Section 21 of the OHS Regulations also specifies the minimum 
components that an OHS program must include:
(2) An occupational health and safety program for a work site 
must include:

(a) A statement of the employer’s policy with respect to the 
protection and maintenance of the health and safety of workers;

(b) An identification of hazards that could endanger workers at 
the work site, through a hazard recognition program;

(c) Measures, including procedures to respond to an emergency, 
that will be taken to reduce, eliminate and control the hazards 
identified under paragraph (b);

(d) An identification of internal and external resources, including 
personnel and equipment, that could be required to respond to an 
emergency;

Page 022 of 198



Mandatory 
Components 
of OH&S 
Program 
(Continued)

(e) A statement of the responsibilities of the employer, the supervisors and the workers;

(f) A schedule for the regular inspection of the work site and inspection of work 
processes and procedures;

(g) A plan for the control of hazardous substances handled, used, stored, produced or 
disposed of at the work site and, if appropriate, the monitoring of the work 
environment;

(h) A plan for training workers and supervisors in safe work practices and procedures, 
including procedures, plans, policies or programs that the employer is required to 
develop;

(i) A procedure for the investigation of refusals to work under section 13 of the Act;

(j) A strategy for worker participation in occupational health and safety activities, 
including audit inspections and investigations of refusals to work under section 13 of 
the Act; and

(k) A procedure to review and, if necessary, revise the occupational health and 
safety program not less than once every three years or whenever there is a change of 
circumstances that could affect the health or safety of workers.

Page 023 of 198



(2) An 
occupational 
health and 
safety program 
for a work site 
must include:

a) A statement of the employer’s policy 
with respect to the protection and 
maintenance of the health and safety of 
workers;

• YK1 023 Form meets this requirement, and 
it is also identified in the OH&S Manual

Page 024 of 198



YK1 023 Form OH&S Policy Statement

Page 025 of 198



(2) An
occupational
health and
safety
program for a
work site
must include:

(b) An identification of hazards that could 
endanger workers at the work site, through a 
hazard recognition program;
(c) Measures, including procedures to
respond to an emergency, that will be taken to
reduce, eliminate and control the hazards
identified under paragraph (b);
Arctic Response Canada has created Formal 
Hazard Assessments to meet this requirement:
1. FHA 001 Office Safety-Administrative
2. FHA 002 Violence In The Workplace
3. FHA 003 Lifting And Carrying Equipment
4. FHA 004 Working Alone

Page 026 of 198



(2) An occupational health and safety program for a work site must include:

(b) an identification of hazards that could endanger workers at the work site, through a 
hazard recognition program; (continued)
(c) measures, including procedures to respond to an emergency, that will be taken to 
reduce, eliminate and control the hazards identified under paragraph (b);

5. FHA 005 Driving 
6. FHA 006  Use of hand tools    

7. FHA 007 Power Tools 

Page 027 of 198



(2) An
occupational
health and
safety
program for a
work site
must include:

(b) an identification of hazards that could endanger
workers at the work site, through a hazard recognition
program; (continued)

(c) measures, including procedures to respond to an
emergency, that will be taken to reduce, eliminate and
control the hazards identified under paragraph (b);

• We have also created Site Specific, Job Specific Hazard
assessment to be completed for High-Risk Work such as
working at heights , Confined Space Work , Powered
Mobile Equipment Work….etc

Page 028 of 198



(2) An occupational health and safety program for a work site must include:

(b) An identification of hazards that could endanger workers at the work site, through a 
hazard recognition program; (continued)
(c) Measures, including procedures to respond to an emergency, that will be taken to 
reduce, eliminate and control the hazards identified under paragraph (b);
• YK1 009 Site Specific Hazard Assessment

Page 029 of 198



(2) An occupational health and safety program for a work site must include:

(b) An identification of hazards that could endanger workers at the work site, through a
hazard recognition program; (continued)
(c) Measures, including procedures to respond to an emergency, that will be taken to
reduce, eliminate and control the hazards identified under paragraph (b);

• We have also created First Aid Risk Assessments, and all have been completed for YK1 Schools
and the Administration Building by Jessica.

• YK1 001 First Aid Risk Assessment

Page 030 of 198



(2) An 
occupational 
health and 
safety 
program for a 
work site 
must include:

(b) An identification of hazards that could endanger 
workers at the work site, through a hazard recognition 
program; (continued)
(c) Measures, including procedures to respond to an 
emergency, that will be taken to reduce, eliminate and control 
the hazards identified under paragraph (b);

We have also created a wide variety of Safety Documents that 
relate to the Hazard Assessment process, such as:

1. YK1 021 Safety Meeting Record
2. YK1 004 New Worker Orientation Form
3. YK1 011 Workplace Violence and Harassment Policy

These forms may be viewed by asking Jessica to open them up 
in their respective PDF’s.

Page 031 of 198



(2) An 
occupational 
health and 
safety 
program for a 
work site 
must include:

Mandatory Components of an OHS Program
Section 21 of the OHS Regulations also specifies the 
minimum components that an OHS program must 
include:
(d) An identification of internal and external 
resources, including personnel and equipment, that 
could be required to respond to an emergency;
We have created the following to address this 
requirement:
1. YK1 013 Emergency Drill Report
2. YK1 019 Inventory of Fire Extinguishers

Page 032 of 198



(2) An 
occupational 
health and 
safety 
program for a 
work site 
must include:

Mandatory Components of an OHS Program
Section 21 of the OHS Regulations also specifies 
the minimum components that an OHS program 
must include:
(d) An identification of internal and external 
resources, including personnel and equipment, 
that could be required to respond to an 
emergency;
3. YK1 020 Fire Safety Plan
4. YK1 022 Inspection and Maintenance 
Inventory

Page 033 of 198



(2) An 
occupational 
health and 
safety 
program for a 
work site 
must include:

Mandatory Components of an OHS Program
Section 21 of the OHS Regulations also 
specifies the minimum components that an 
OHS program must include:
(e) A statement of the responsibilities of 
the employer, the supervisors and the 
workers;
• This will be found in the OH&S Manual for 

Yellowknife Education District No.1
• See next slide to view completed OH&S 

Manual.

Page 034 of 198



Yellowknife Education District No.1 OH&S Manual:

Page 035 of 198



(2) An 
occupational 
health and 
safety 
program for a 
work site 
must include:

Mandatory Components of an OHS Program
Section 21 of the OHS Regulations also specifies 
the minimum components that an OHS program 
must include:
(f) A schedule for the regular inspection of 
the work site and inspection of work processes 
and procedures;
We have created the following to address this 
requirement:
1. YK1 005  Office Area Inspections
2. YK1 006 Bus Pre-trip Inspection Form
3. YK1 014 Quarterly Light Duty Vehicle 

Inspection

Page 036 of 198



(2) An 
occupational 
health and 
safety 
program for a 
work site 
must include:

Mandatory Components of an OHS Program
Section 21 of the OHS Regulations also specifies 
the minimum components that an OHS program 
must include:
(g) A plan for the control of hazardous 
substances handled, used, stored, produced or 
disposed of at the work site and, if appropriate, 
the monitoring of the work environment;
We have created the following to address this 
requirement:
1. YK1 018 Inventory of Controlled Products 

Page 037 of 198



YK1 018 Inventory Of Controlled Products 

Page 038 of 198



(2) An 
occupational 
health and 
safety 
program for a 
work site 
must include:

Mandatory Components of an OHS Program
Section 21 of the OHS Regulations also specifies 
the minimum components that an OHS program 
must include:
(h) a plan for training workers and supervisors in 
safe work practices and procedures, including 
procedures, plans, policies or programs that the 
employer is required to develop;
We have created the following to address this 
requirement:
1. YK1 008 Training Matrix
We also have training requirements outlined in 
the OH&S Manual.

Page 039 of 198



(2) An 
occupational 
health and 
safety 
program for a 
work site 
must include:

Mandatory Components of an OHS Program
Section 21 of the OHS Regulations also 
specifies the minimum components that an 
OHS program must include:
(i) A procedure for the investigation of 
refusals to work under section 13 of the Act;
We have created the following to address 
this requirement:
• YK1 016 Steps For A Work Refusal
• Example on the next slide

Page 040 of 198



YK1 016 Steps For A Work Refusal

Page 041 of 198



(2) An 
occupational 
health and 
safety 
program for a 
work site 
must include:

Mandatory Components of an OHS Program
Section 21 of the OHS Regulations also specifies the 
minimum components that an OHS program must 
include:
(j) A strategy for worker participation in 
occupational health and safety activities, including 
audit inspections and investigations of refusals to 
work under section 13 of the Act; and
(k) A procedure to review and, if necessary, 
revise the occupational health and safety program 
not less than once every three years or whenever 
there is a change of circumstances that could affect 
the health or safety of workers.
• This will be found in the OH&S Manual under 

Training Requirements and Program Maintenance.

Page 042 of 198



Future 
Requirements 
needed for 
Yellowknife 
Education 
District No.1 

• More Comprehensive Training Matrix and 
Training Recertifications Schedule

• Fall Protection Plans and Training
• Confined Space Assessments and Training
• PPE Review and Inventory
• Powered Mobile Equipment Inspection 

Forms
• Inspection Forms for all Locations including 

but not limited to Woodworking Areas, 
Kitchen Areas, Staff Rooms, Meeting 
Rooms, Mechanic Shops, Maintenance 
Areas….etc.

Page 043 of 198



Future 
Requirements 
needed for 
Yellowknife 
Education 
District No.1 

• Google Drive Maintenance and 
Improvement

• SDS uploading to specific schools
Training in Following:

1. Fall Protection
2. Confined Space Entry & Monitor
3. WSCC Supervisor
4. Intermediate First Aid
5. Respiratory Protective Equipment

Page 044 of 198



Future 
Requirements 
needed for 
Yellowknife 
Education 
District No.1

Training in Following:
6. Gas Detection – TBD
7. SCBA – TBD
8. Asbestos Awareness –TBD
9. PPE Specific –TBD
10. Mold Awareness TBD
11. Joint Occupational Health & Safety 

Training
We will also most likely be involved in 
assisting in running the first meetings with 
the affected schools.

Page 045 of 198



Yellowknife School Division Forms created as per Nov 12 2025 (available for review)

Page 046 of 198



The 
Importanc
e of 
Implement
ing an 
OHS 
Program 
in 
Schools

•OHS programs protect staff and students 
from hazards in all school environments

•Schools are complex workplaces with 
physical, chemical, and psychosocial risks

•A strong OHS program builds a culture of 
prevention and shared responsibility

Page 047 of 198



Legal and 
Ethical 
Responsibi
lities

•OHS regulations require employers to 
maintain safe work environments

•Administrators and boards have a legal duty 
of care under territorial and federal law

•Ethically, schools must protect all who learn 
and work within them

Page 048 of 198



The Role 
of Staff 
Participa
tion

•Staff are the heart of any successful OHS 
program

•Participation helps identify hazards early 
and ensures compliance

•Shared involvement promotes 
accountability and team safety culture

Page 049 of 198



Benefits 
of an 
Effective 
OHS 
Program

•Reduced injuries, illnesses, and absenteeism

•Improved morale and productivity across 
schools

•Enhanced student learning through safer, 
calmer environments

•Strengthened community reputation and 
trust

Page 050 of 198



Implementa
tion 
Strategies

•Establish joint health and safety committees

•Conduct regular hazard assessments and 
inspections

•Provide training for all staff and new workers

•Encourage open reporting and feedback

•Review and update the OHS program regularly

•Creation of a YK1 Safety Board

Page 051 of 198



Conclusio
n

•A strong OHS program safeguards both
staff and students

•Staff participation ensures long-term
success and cultural change

•Together, we can make safety a shared
value in every classroom

Page 052 of 198



Questions?

Page 053 of 198



YELLOWKNIFE EDUCATION DISTRICT NO. 1 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

REGULAR BOARD MEETING
MINUTES 

October 14, 2025 – 6:30 PM 
In-person and online via Google Meet

(in camera 6:30 - 7:00 PM) 

Trustees Present:​ Allan Shortt, Barbara Bell, David Wasylciw, Jason Snaggs (online),  
Michelle Peters, Terry Brookes (online) and Tina Drew 

Regrets:​ none 

Administration Present:​ Shirley Zouboules, Lisa Vass, Landon Kowalzik, Graham Arts, 

and Pat Thagard 

Regrets:​ Jordan Martin 

Guests present:​ Adrian Bell, NWT Arts presenter 

Adelee Penner, 10 guests in person, 1 guest online 

CBC reporter 

Meeting Chairperson:​ Barbara Bell 

Meeting Minutes by:​ Pat Thagard 

1. Call to Order

The meeting was called to order at 6:32 PM. Seven (7) Trustees were present. Quorum was met.

Motion #: 01/10-14/25-26

I move that the Yellowknife Education District No. 1  Board of Trustees move to in camera at 6:33 

Moved by: Trustee Drew     Seconded by: Trustee Shortt ​​ ​ ​ ​ Carried 

Motion #: 02/10-14/25-26

I move that the Yellowknife Education District No. 1  Board of Trustees move out of in camera at 6:37 PM.  

Moved by: Trustee Wasylciw​   Seconded by: Trustee Peters​ ​ ​ ​ Carried 

Trustee Drew joined the meeting in progress. 

Motion #: 03/10-14/25-26 

I move that the Yellowknife Education District No. 1  Board of Trustees move to in camera at 6:40 

Moved by: Trustee Shortt      Seconded by: Trustee Peters ​ ​ ​ ​ Carried 

Motion #: 04/10-14/25-26 

I move that the Yellowknife Education District No. 1  Board of Trustees move out of in camera at 6:52 PM. 

Moved by: Trustee Shortt ​    Seconded by: Trustee  Drew​ ​ ​ ​ Carried 

October 14, 2025 Regular Board Meeting Minutes - DRAFT Page 1 of 10 

Page 054 of 198



Superintendent Zouboules was asked to join the Board. The following motion was made as soon as she 
joined the Board. 

Motion #: 05/10-14/25-26 

I move that the Yellowknife Education District No. 1  Board of Trustees move into in camera at 6:53 

Moved by: Trustee Wasylciw ​    Seconded by: Trustee Peters  ​​ ​ ​ Carried 

Motion #: 06/10-14/25-26 

I move that the Yellowknife Education District No. 1  Board of Trustees move out of in camera at 7:03 PM. 

Moved by: Trustee Shortt ​    Seconded by: Trustee Drew​  ​ ​ ​ Carried 

The Board meeting was called back to order at 7:05 PM 

2. Land Acknowledgement

We respectfully acknowledge that we live, work, and learn on Chief Drygeese Territory in the
Akaitcho region, the traditional territory of the Yellowknives Dene First Nation.

3. Chairperson’s Opening Remarks

Chairperson Bell welcomed everyone to the meeting, including Adrian Bell, Dr. Sara Komarnisky
and Bob Overvold from the NWT Arts Centre initiative and all the guests present.

4. Declaration of Conflict of Interest

None declared.

5. Adoption of Agenda

Motion #: 07/10-14/25-26 

I move that the Yellowknife Education District No. 1  Board of Trustees adopt the October 14, 2025, Regular 
Board Meeting agenda, as presented. 

Moved by: Trustee Shortt​Seconded by: Trustee Wasylciw​ Carried 

6. Delegations & Presentations

6.1.​ Adrian Bell, NWT Arts Centre Initiative with Bob Overvold and Dr. Sara Komarnisky. 

The presentation included information about: 

● The distinction between an art centre and an art gallery
● Work with a foundation which may be able to provide $30M for the project

(approximately half of the costs)
● They would be looking to use the entire former Akaitcho Hall site and some additional

land for which they have applied to the City
● Multiple functions are envisioned for the facility
● The facility would be a Class A facility
● They have consulted with other similar facilities, including the art centre in the Yukon
● Current thoughts are that the facility would be 30K to 35K square feet in size
● 4 of the 6 steering committee members are Indigenous
● The facility would engage with youth across the North

October 14, 2025 Regular Board Meeting Minutes - DRAFT Page 2 of 10 

Page 055 of 198



●​ NACC and the Prince of Whales Northern Heritage Centre (the museum) are interested in 
the project 

●​ The group has applied for charitable status, and 
●​ Getting land for the facility will allow them to move on to the next steps 

Trustees raised concerns about parking due to proximity to École Sir John Franklin High 
School, and asked questions about long-term sustainability.  

The initiative is asking for a letter of support for their land application.   

7.​ Review and Approval of Minutes 

7.1.​ September 9, 2025 - Regular Board Meeting 

Motion #: 08/10-14/25-26 

I move that the Yellowknife Education District No. 1  Board of Trustees approve the September 9, 2025, 
Board Meeting Minutes, as presented. 

Moved by: Trustee David    ​ Seconded by: Trustee  Tina​ ​ ​ ​ Carried 

7.2.​ September 26, 2025 - Special Board Meeting​  

Motion #: 09/10-14/25-26 

I move that the Yellowknife Education District No. 1  Board of Trustees approve the September 26, 2025 
Special Board Meeting Minutes, as presented. 

Moved by: Trustee Wasylciw   ​ Seconded by: Trustee Drew​ ​ ​ ​ Carried 

8.​ Business Arising from the Minutes 

a)​ Trustee Drew provided some suggestions related to the draft Terms of Reference 
for a YK1 Education Committee that were brought forward at the September 9, 
2025 Board Meeting.  Discussion resulted in the following:  

Action:  ​ add “discussion about hosting Education meetings at Schools” to the action item list for further 
discussion at a future Board meeting.  

b)​ The following motion was made regarding the item brought up during the 
September 9, 2025 Board meeting. 

Motion#: 10/10-14/25-26 

I move that the Yellowknife Education District No. 1 Board of Trustees direct the Chairperson to write to the 
Ministers of Health and Social Services and Education regarding the restoration of the school nurse 
program at YK1 that has been absent since 2020. 

Moved by: Trustee Wasylciw ​ Seconded by: Trustee Drew ​ ​ ​ ​ Carried 

It was suggested that since this is a health issue, the letter should be sent to the Minister of Health and 
Social Services and cc’d to the letter to the Minister of Education, Culture & Employment. ​ ​  

c)​ Trustees noted that information is useful for balancing class size and budgets as well 
as estimating where pressures might be in the future. Trustees also noted that class 

October 14, 2025 Regular Board Meeting Minutes - DRAFT                          Page 3 of 10 

Page 056 of 198



composition is more important than class size.​​ ​ ​ ​ ​

8.1.​ Action Items 

Motion #: 11/10-14/25-26 

I move that the Yellowknife Education District No. 1  Board of Trustees approve the updated action item list 
as discussed. 

Moved by: Trustee Wasylciw   Seconded by: Trustee Peters​ Carried 

8.1.1.​ Request for Review and Update of Financial Regulations & Policies for 
Outside Boards 

Correspondence was sent and a response was received. 

Action: ​ Add “Request for Review and Update of Financial Regulations & Policies for Outside Boards” to the 
next Committee of the Whole (COW) agenda for discussion. 

8.1.2.​ Summary of YK1 Music Programs 

Report included in the agenda package. 

The board appreciates that there is a problem and requested further 
information on the following: 

● Components of an ideal music program,
● Information on staffing challenges,
● More information on the main areas of YK1 fine arts.

Administration to formulate what the issues are and provide possible solutions for the 
Board to consider.  

Trustees encouraged administration to bring forward innovative ideas and 
solutions for consideration. 

5 minutes recess called by Chairperson Bell at 7:32 PM 
Meeting reconvened at 7:37 PM 

9. Trustee Statements

Per By-Laws: Trustee Statements are individual opinions and are not intended to 
represent the views of the Board.  Trustee statements are not debatable and 

there will be no opportunity for rebuttal or questions. 

9.1 ​ None were submitted 

10. Unfinished Business

10.1.​ Correspondence (Trustee Bell)

10.1.1.​ Urgent Call for Immediate Retrofit of École William McDOnald Middle 
School  

October 14, 2025 Regular Board Meeting Minutes - DRAFT Page 4 of 10 

Page 057 of 198



Trustees noted the lack of commitment from the Minister for a school that 
was built in 1982 and is well overdue for a retrofit. Trustees would like to 
know why this school’s retrofit is now being delayed another three years.  
This topic will be added as an agenda item for the next meeting with the 
Minister. 

10.1.2.​ Academic Year & School Attendance Regulations 

This topic will be added to the next NWT Leaders meeting agenda. 

10.1.3.​ Akaitcho Hall Land 

Administration indicated that YK1 would be interested in the land but 
does not have the capacity to build on it. 

Trustees feel that given other interests in the land it is not something to 
take lightly because the YK1 response to the Minister may impact the 
future use of the land.  

Action: ​ Chairperson Bell will request another extension for a response to the Minister’s letter so that the 
Board can further discuss what a response should include. 

10.2​ 2024-2025 Annual Report & Audited Financial Statement Documents 

Graham Arts noted that a copy of the document approved at the September 9th 
Board meeting is included in this agenda package for trustee reference. 

11. New Business

11.1.​ 2025-2026 Budget Reductions Preparations (Trustee Brookes)

Trustee Brookes brought forward a motion to show, in a small way, that the 
Board set an example related to budget restraint.   

Motion #: 12/10-14/25-26 

I move that the YK1 Board of Trustees, as a start to cost savings, discontinue serving lunch at Board 
and Committee Meetings, unless special occasions warrant the providing of meals. 

Moved by: Trustee Brookes   Seconded by:   No seconder​ Motion fell to the floor

Trustee Wasylciw called a Point of Order, citing a financial 
mischaracterization in the cover sheet provided for this item.    

Action:​ Trustees asked that future budget discussions include a comparison of revenues to expenses 
for clarity. 

11.2.​ Education Leaders (Trustee Bell) 

Chairperson Bell asked Trustees to provide feedback to her on the items listed. 
Trustees asked for clarification on the "clarifying User agreements” topic.  
Chairperson Bell indicated that it relates to overlap with regard to facility 
maintenance across the NWT. 

11.3.​ Handover Documents (Trustee Bell) 

October 14, 2025 Regular Board Meeting Minutes - DRAFT Page 5 of 10 

Page 058 of 198



Information is in the agenda package for information purposes. 

11.4.​ Strategic Plan (Trustee Bell) 

Chairperson Bell requested approval of the Board’s Strategic Priorities, in 
principle so that next steps can begin at the district & school level. 

Motion #: 13/10-14/25-26

I move that the YK1 Board of Trustees approve, in principle, the Board’s Strategic Priorities, on pages 
218 and 219 of the agenda package, so that indicators and measurables can be developed. 

Moved by: Trustee Drew     Seconded by: Shortt​ Carried   

12. Reports

12.1.​ Chairperson’s Report

Chairperson Bell’s report is included in the agenda package. 

12.2.​ Trustee Reports 

12.2.1.​ Trustee Drew Report (Trustee Drew) 

Trustee Drew noted the following items in her report: 

● A reminder that per Policy 3 - Role of the Trustee indicates: trustees
should remember to bring the voices of the public to Board meetings;

● Noted that if trustees have the opportunity to hear Cindy Blackstock
speak, they should take it.  Trustee Drew expressed concerns related
to Jordan’s Principle funding as a result of Cindy Blackstock’s
presentation.

● Trustees should reflect and remember they are not arguing with a
person, but arguing on a position and decisions should be
data-driven.

● She recommended that everyone attend a CSBA conference.
● She is concerned about statistics regarding the loss of teachers.

12.3​ Canadian School Board Association Report (Trustee Brookes) 

The CSBA meeting occurred last week. Some highlights provided by Trustees 
Wasylciw and Brookes included: 

● Advocacy topic with Members of Parliament and Senators was a
productive session;

● Jordan’s Principle was discussed;
● The situation in Ontario between school boards and the Ministry of

Education clashing over financial control and oversight;
● Benefits of hearing comments from across the country;
● Plans underway for CSBA conference to be held in Whistler, BC, in July 2026

October 14, 2025 Regular Board Meeting Minutes - DRAFT Page 6 of 10 

Page 059 of 198



More information to be included in the next agenda package. 

12.4​ Superintendents Report 

Report included in the agenda package.   

Superintendent Zouboules shared little books created by MHS students focused 
on Truth & Reconciliation which will be used to create an E-zine. 

The following information was provided: 

● There is information available explaining the role of wellness mentors.
Work is ongoing in this area.

● Dr. Cindy Blackstock was the keynote speaker for the YK1 staff
professional development (PD) in 2023.

● Reconciliation is interwoven into classes - the little books shared earlier
are an example of this.

● Bussing is now going well.
● The City is considering including YK1 and YCS elections on the next

municipal election ballot. Administration hopes to have more information
in the new year.

● The media training was very beneficial.

12.4.1​ Assistant Superintendent of Curriculum & Learning Report  

The report is included in the agenda package. The following information 
was provided: 

● Information on homeschooling, safe & caring schools will be
provided at the next board meeting.

● Data related to numeracy is being reviewed by schools and will be
incorporated into school plans. Improvement planning is something
that resides at the school level and is formulated with each school's
challenges in mind.

● Housing has not been an issue this year.  The challenge this year is
finding language teachers.

● New phone systems that will be installed at schools and district
office are the same as the systems installed at École Sir John
Franklin High School and École Įtłʼǫ̀  but will be installed by a different
vendor.

Action: ​ Administration to provide a report on what is being done to improve student success, 
particularly in the area of numeracy. 

12.4.2​ Assistant Superintendent of HR & Learning Report 

The report is included in the agenda package.  

The following information was provided: 

October 14, 2025 Regular Board Meeting Minutes - DRAFT Page 7 of 10 

Page 060 of 198



●​ There are now 134 approved substitutes. 
●​ This is the last year for the new teacher evaluation pilot program project. 
●​ There are now 3 trustees on the USW Negotiations Committee. 
●​ Substitute rates are based on a different formula. Funding does not cover 

what is currently paid to subs. 

Action: ​ Administration to provide the Public Engagement & Advocacy Committee information on 
sub-funding, how sub rates are determined and actual costs so that the committee can discuss 
advocacy for funding at the next meeting with the Yellowknife Members of the Legislative 
Assembly (MLAs).  The committee will provide recommendations at the January 2026 Board 
meeting. 

Motion #: 14/10-14/25-26 

I move that the YK1 Board of Trustees give the Superintendent authorization to engage Colin Fetter of 
Brownlee LLP as lead negotiator for the upcoming USW contract negotiations. 

Moved by: Trustee Shortt     Seconded by: Trustee Drew​ ​ ​ ​ ​ Carried  

Motion #: 15/10-14/25-26 

I move that the YK1 Board of Trustees approve the negotiating mandate as previously discussed.  

Moved by: Trustee Wasylciw     Seconded by: Trustee Peters​ ​ ​ Carried 

12.4.3​ Secretary Treasurer Report 

​ The report is included in the agenda package.  

The following information was provided: 

●​ Clarification of the meaning of “review of all liabilities” 

12.4.4​ Director of Operations Report  

​ The report is included in the agenda package.  

The following items were discussed: 

●​ It was noted that facilities have not been discussed at Finance & 
Facilities meetings and a question came up whether the committee 
should be split into two committees again. 

●​ Trustees asked to have a capital planning update included as part of 
the reporting at Finance & Facilities Committee meetings. 

●​ Chairperson Bell and Superintendent Zouboules have reviewed the 
Board Workplan and will report on it going forward. 

13.​ Standing Committee Reports 

Trustees to reach out to Chairperson Bell with their meeting dates. 

13.1.​ Audit Committee  

The report is included in the agenda package.  

October 14, 2025 Regular Board Meeting Minutes - DRAFT                          Page 8 of 10 

Page 061 of 198



13.2.​ Committee of the Whole (COW) 

The report is included in the agenda package.  

The Federal School Food Program item was deferred to the next meeting of the 
Committee of the Whole. 

13.3.​ Finance & Facilities Committee  

Next meeting scheduled for October 28th. 

13.4.​ NWTTA Teacher-Board Committee - these meetings are on hold 

13.5.​ Policy & Governance Committee 

The report is included in the agenda package.  

The committee had its first meeting and will meet on the 4th Wednesday of each 
month. A committee chairperson has not yet been chosen.   The committee would 
like to retract Policy 6 - Role of the Board Chairperson, as it was noted that 
another change is required.  The committee reviewed Policy 2 - Role of the Board, 
and no changes are recommended. 

Motion #: 16/10-14/25-26 

I move that the YK1 Board of Trustees approve the recommendation from the Policy & Governance 
Committee that no changes were required to Policy 2—Role of the Board. 

Moved by: Trustee Drew     Seconded by: Trustee Snaggs​ ​ ​ Carried 

Motion #: 17/10-14/25-26 

I move that the YK1 Board of Trustees accept the first reading of Policy 3 - Role of the Trustee as 
presented in the agenda package. 

Moved by: Trustee Drew     Seconded by: Trustee Snaggs​ ​ ​ Carried 

Discussion around the format of the revision history included with each Policy 
resulted in agreement to have a very brief description included with the policy 
and a more detailed history to be included in a master revision history appendix 
document. 

Motion #: 18/10-14/25-26 

I move that the YK1 Board of Trustees extend the Board meeting to 10:30 PM so as to complete the 
items on the agenda. 

Moved by: Trustee Brookes     Seconded by: Trustee Shortt​ ​ ​ Carried 

13.6.​ Public Engagement & Advocacy Committee 

The committee has had some informal discussions.  Meeting dates will be 
determined in the near future. 

13.7.​ USW Board Advisory Committee - has not met. 

October 14, 2025 Regular Board Meeting Minutes - DRAFT                          Page 9 of 10 

Page 062 of 198



Per the collective agreement, the USW representative would reach out to YK1 
about setting up a meeting.  

14. Ad Hoc

14.1.​ Negotiations Committee - NWTTA

Negotiation meetings will continue tomorrow for the next 3 days. 

14.2.​ Negotiations Committee - USW 

Negotiations will start on October 21st and run every day until October 24th. 

15. Announcements - events calendar attached

16. Date and Time of Next Meeting

October 21, 2025 6:00 PM Board Education Information Session  

November 12, 2025         12:10 PM Committee of the Whole Meeting 

November 12, 2025               6:30 PM   Executive Session (In camera) 

November 12, 2025               7:00 PM  Regular Board Meeting 

November 25, 2025              6:00 PM Board Education Information Session 

17. Chairperson’s Closing Remarks

Chairperson Bell thanked everyone for attending the meeting.

18. Adjournment

Motion #: 19/10-14/25-26 

I move that the Yellowknife Education District No. 1  Board of Trustees adjourn the October 14, 2025, 
Regular Board Meeting. 

Moved by: Trustee Drew ​Seconded by: Trustee Shortt​ Carried 

The meeting adjourned at 10:06 PM 

October 14, 2025 Regular Board Meeting Minutes - DRAFT Page 10 of 10 

Chairperson Bell Secretary Treasurer Vass 

Page 063 of 198



D
R
A
FT

 

YELLOWKNIFE EDUCATION DISTRICT NO. 1 
BOARD of TRUSTEES 

SPECIAL BOARD MEETING 
MINUTES 

 

October 31, 2025 – 12:10 PM 
In-person and online via Google Meet 

 

Trustees Present:​​ Barbara Bell, David Wasylciw (online), Jason Snaggs (online), 
​ ​ ​ ​ Michelle Peters, Terry Brookes, and Tina Drew 

Regrets:​ ​ ​ Allan Shortt 

Administration 

Present:​ ​ ​ Shirley Zouboules (online), Landon Kowlazik, Lisa Vass,  
​ ​ ​ ​ Graham Arts, Jordan Martin, Pat Thagard and Annie Lagomasino 

Regrets:​ ​ Shirley Zouboules 

Meeting Chairperson:​ ​ Barbara Bell 

Meeting Recorder:​ ​ Pat Thagard 

1.​ Call to Order 

The meeting was called to order at 12:09 PM. Five (5) trustees were present, and a quorum was 
met. 

2.​ Land Acknowledgement 

Chairperson Bell respectfully acknowledged that we live, work, and learn on Chief Drygeese 
Territory in the Akaitcho region, the traditional territory of the Yellowknives Dene First Nation. 

3.​ Chairperson’s Opening Remarks 

Trustee Bell thanked everyone for attending the meeting, wished everyone a happy Halloween 
and asked that everyone drive carefully this evening. 

4.​ Declaration of Conflict 

None declared. 

5.​ Adoption of Agenda 

Motion #: 01/10-31/25-26 

I move that the Yellowknife Education District No. 1  Board of Trustees adopt the October 31, 2025, 
Special Board Meeting agenda, as amended. 

Minutes - Special Board Meeting - October 31, 2025 - DRAFT             ​ ​                 Page 1 of 4 

Page 064 of 198



D
R
A
FT

 
Moved by: Trustee Brookes​ Seconded by: Trustee Drew​  ​ ​ ​ Withdrawn 

After some discussion, the above motion was withdrawn and replaced with the following. 

Motion #: 02/10-31/25-26 

I move that the Yellowknife Education District No. 1  Board of Trustees adopt the October 31, 2025, 
Special Board Meeting agenda, as presented. 

Moved by: Trustee Brookes  Seconded by: Trustee Drew​  ​ ​ ​ Carried 

6.​ Labour Relations 

The agenda package includes the proposed amendments to the United Steel Workers (USW) 
Collective Agreement. 

Trustees thanked the negotiator, Colin Fetter of Brownlee LLP and Administration and 
members of the Negotiations Committee for their expeditious work during negotiations. 

The Committee noted that USW negotiations have always gone very well.  The primary change 
made was the addition of the Wellness Mentor positions and Speech Language Pathologist 
position as well as aligning the USW Collective Agreement with the NWTTA Collective 
Agreement.  The USW staff realize YK1 is in a tight financial position and are happy with the 
collective agreement. 

Motion #: 03/10-31/25-26 

I move that the Yellowknife Education District No. 1  Board of Trustees approve the ratified 
agreement between YK1 and the USW for a three-year collective agreement. 

Moved by: Trustee Brookes​ Seconded by: Trustee Drew​  ​ ​ ​ Carried 

7.​ Budget Amendment 

Secretary Treasurer Vass went over the proposed amendments included in the agenda 
package and the expenditures noted in the amendment document.  The amendments include 
the interim support assistance funding and additional expenses.  The additional expenditures 
are approximately $739,000.  

Trustees asked about the financial cost resulting from the USW Collective Agreement.  
Secretary Treasurer Vass indicated the USW-related amount will be included in a future 
budget amendment.   Secretary Treasurer Vass suggested the Rick Hansen related amount 
could be replaced with the USW amount as they are almost the same, and the Rick Hansen 
funds will not be needed until the next fiscal year. Trustees also commended Administration for 
the work being done on safety. They noted that provision was included in order to fill the gaps 
in the YK1 safety program.  

Trustees asked if the Department of Education, Culture and Employment (ECE) interim support 
assistance funding agreement will go to the GNWT year-end or the end of the school year? 
Administration indicated that ECE confirmed that the funding will go to the end of the 

Minutes - Special Board Meeting - October 31, 2025 - DRAFT             ​ ​                 Page 2 of 4 

Page 065 of 198



D
R
A
FT

2025-2026 school year. 

Trustees asked if these amendments match the amounts discussed with the Minister of ECE on 
October 29th? And, were these amendments shown to ECE to see if we are on the right track. 
That is, do the amendments meet the criteria? 

Secretary Treasurer Vass indicated there is some ability for movement; therefore, the amount 
required for the USW Collective Agreement could be added in. Trustees indicated this is a 
good opportunity to use the surplus since YK1 has been encouraged to do so. 

Motion #: 04/10-31/25-26

I move that the Yellowknife Education District No. 1  Board of Trustees approve the total budget 
expenditure of $5,920,614 plus an additional $58,000 for the USW contract expenses to be funded 
by a combination of Government of the Northwest Territories, ECE funding and the YK1 operating 
fund surplus as outlined in the attached schedule.  

Moved by: Trustee Drew​ Seconded by: Trustee Snaggs​ Carried

Trustee Drew is concerned about this funding and the long-term effects this year’s funding 
from ECE will have on future funding. She noted that Minister Cleveland indicated this is a 
one-year initiative only and that no one at ECE had contacted the federal government to 
inquire about the long-term consequences for students.  A recent ruling indicated that 
Jordan’s Principle funding will no longer be available if ECE steps in with funding.  She feels 
the lack of funding is discriminatory and inconsistent with the 2020 Charter 36 ruling that 
defined who is recognized as an Indigenous person and their entitlement to Jordan’s Principle 
funding. It is also important to note that the ruling specifically refers to provincial schools.  It 
was suggested that the Board write to the GNWT, quoting the ruling and asking how it will 
affect NWT students in the future.    

Trustee Brookes called a point of order and suggested concerns be put it forward as a Trustee 
Statement at the next meeting.  The Chair ruled that the Point of Order was not well taken. 

Trustee Drew’s closing comment is yes, YK1 will have to look at cutting the budget by 
approximately $4M next year; 2026-2027 Budget meetings will have to begin in earnest. 

8. Educational Assistants - Interim Support Initiative

Administration gave an viewed of the funding and noted that YK1 has not been able to access 
funding through Jordan’s Principle. YK1 is looking to access the one-time, additional funding 
from the GNWT to support our students.

Trustees asked what other steps are open to us to get a response from the federal government. 
Administration indicated that there is an appeal process for applications that are denied. 
However, YK1 applications have not been denied; they are in limbo.  Trustees raised concerns 
about the ruling noted above.

Minutes - Special Board Meeting - October 31, 2025 - DRAFT Page 3 of 4 

Page 066 of 198



111/7/2025

BOARD of TRUSTEES - Action Items - 2025-2026

No.
Meeting
Date

Meeting Action Item Assigned to Due Date
Status

Meeting Date & Associated COMMENTS

(if applicable)

4 2024-08-20 Board Meeting Provide an update on the creation of an asset registry Administration January 2026 In Progress
Oct 14, 2025 - the registry is being started in the IT
department.

9 2024-10-08 Board Meeting Chair & Administration to contact Minister of ECE regarding application of
Financial Administration Act and FAM regarding decision making authority Chair and Admin Fall 2025 In Progress

Oct 14, 2025 - letter and response provided in the
agenda package; Add to next COW agenda for further
discussion

15 2024-11-12 Board Meeting Follow up on 1 Year warranty start date on Ecole Itlo list of rolling completion
dates Administration January 2026 In Progress

Oct 14, 2025 - due dated changed to January 2026

27 2025-04-13 Board Meeting Contact YKDFN about possibility of a meeting
Chair &
Superintendent Fall 2025 In Progress Oct 14, 2025 - Chairperson has reached out and is

awaiting a response.

30 2025-05-13 Board Meeting Trustees received a one pager regarding School Improvement Goals from
Reviews
In May, Trustees received a brief update on the School Improvement Goals.
Trustees are seeking more  information. Administration

Nov 2025 In Progress

Oct 14, 2025 - schools have until November 3rd to
submit information; Administration to provide a report
at the November 12th Board meeting.

32 2025-05-20 Board Meeting
(Education) Administration Spring 2026 In Progress

Oct 14, 2025 - spring 2026 due date

33 2025-09-09 Board Administration Oct 14, 2025 In Progress

Oct 14, 2025 - additional information requested for
November Board meeting

An Education presentation on Inclusive Schooling was provided in Spring
2025. It was suggested that we discuss different funding approaches from
the GNWT and what an improved model might look like.
consider and recommend alternative approaches to inclusive schooling
funding and reporting

In September 2025, Trustees requested a summary of music programs
available throughout the district for the October Board meeting.

Page 067 of 198



211/7/2025

BOARD of TRUSTEES - Action Items - 2025-2026

No.
Meeting
Date

Meeting Action Item Assigned to Due Date
Status

Meeting Date & Associated COMMENTS

(if applicable)

34 2025-09-09 Board Administration Oct 14, 2025

In Progress

Oct 14, 2025 - a letter asking for the restoration of the
school nurse program at YK1 schools has been drafted
by the Chair, it will be circulated to trustees for
feedback; trustees suggest the letter be sent to the
Minister of Health and Social Services and be copied
to the Minister of Education, Culture and Employment.
This program has been absent since 2020.

35 2025-09-09 Board Administration
November

Board meeting ,
2025

In Progress
Oct 14, 2025 - trustees requested information on actual
class sizes per grade.

36 2025-09-26 Board Administration Dec 1, 2025 In Progress

37 2025-10-14 Board Administration Jan 1, 2026

38 2025-10-14 Board Administration Winter
2025-2026

39 2025-10-14

40 2025-09-26 Board

2 2024-06-13 Board Meeting Update on Joint Use Agreement report from the City, including facility usage,
costs and included facilities

Board &
Administration January 2026 Complete

26 2025-03-11 Board Meeting Schedule Meeting for when USW Representative will be in Yellowknife Administration March 2026 Complete

Trustees asked if there is still an issue with getting Public Health into schools.
Administration indicated Public Health does not have the capacity to visit
schools. (Nursing program)

Trustees asked for average class size information as well as current class
sizes for each school/each grade.

Provide a report outlining how schools are addressing the lack of student
success in numeracy, as noted in the Annual Report. The report should
summarize current strategies, interventions, and plans in place (or in
development) to improve math outcomes across the district.
Provide a report comparing current substitute teacher costs to existing salary
funding allocations. The report should outline the actual costs of substitutes,
identify how these costs have changed over time, and show how they relate
to other salary categories within the district.
Administration to review the current Joint Use Agreement that we have with
the City of Yellowknife. Admin will determine whether YK1 will continue with
the existing agreement or explore alternative options. A recommendation to
be brought forward to the Board following the review.
On June 13, 2025, the board passed a motion that required the outgoing
Chair, Vice Chair and Committee Chairs and CSBA Representative complete a
Committee Handoff Document prior to the Organizational Meeting, and that
all completed documents be stored in the internal Board DRIVE, accessible to
trustees and relevant staff.
All of the above are to be emails to the Chair and Administration by the
December Board Meeting.
Administration to look into Schools that have the necessary equipment host
Education Session Board Meetings.

Recently Completed:

Page 068 of 198



311/7/2025

BOARD of TRUSTEES - Action Items - 2025-2026

No.
Meeting
Date

Meeting Action Item Assigned to Due Date
Status

Meeting Date & Associated COMMENTS

(if applicable)

Action Items REFERRED to COMMITTEE - 2024-2025
Finance &
Facilities

Public

Engagement &
Advocacy

Public

Engagement &
Advocacy

Policy &
Governance

Policy &
Governance

I 2023-04-11 Board Meeting Finance Committee to work with Administration to create a risk register Committee &
Administration

Spring 2025 In Progress

II 2024-04-09 Board Meeting Determine best way to share communications publicly

Committee

Winter
2024/2025 In Progress

III 2024-08-20 Board Meeting Continue to explore the creation of a Pride version of the YK1 logo

Committee

Winter
2024/2025 In progress

IV 2024-11-12 Board Meeting Explore development of Risk Management Policy
Committee

Spring 2025 In Progress

V 2025-05-13 Board Meeting
Committee

Fall 2025 In ProgressPolicy & Governance Committee review the Trustee honorarium structure with
respect to full-day commitments of Trustees.

Page 069 of 198



D
R
A
FT

Motion #: 05/10-31/25-26

I move that the Yellowknife Education District No. 1  Board of Trustees direct administration to hire 
Education Assistants for the 2025-2026 school year with the Interim Support Assistant Initiative 
funding. 

Moved by: Trustee Brookes​ Seconded by: Trustee Snaggs​ Carried

9. Date and Time of Next Meetings

Included in the meeting agenda.

10. Chairperson’s Closing Remarks

Chairperson Bell thanked everyone for their time and input.

11. Adjournment

Motion #: 06/10-31/25-26
I move that the Yellowknife Education District No. 1  Board of Trustees adjourn the October 31, 2025, 

Special Board Meeting. 

Moved by: Trustee  Brookes  ​ Seconded by: Trustee  Drew ​Carried 

Meeting adjourned at 12:57   PM 

Trustee Bell, Chairperson Lisa Vass, Secretary Treasurer 

Minutes - Special Board Meeting - October 31, 2025 - DRAFT Page 4 of 4 

Page 070 of 198



Form updated: October 2025 

 

 BOARD REPORT 

Title: Report – District Music Programs 

Contact: Graham Arts, Assistant Superintendent 

Date Submitted: November 6, 2025 

Mandate ● Cultivate a culture of holistic wellness 

● Honour and celebrate Indigenous Language and Culture for all 
learners 

● Ensure inclusive, equitable and authentic learning experiences  

● Foster critical understanding of local, national and global issues 

Background ● At the October 2025 meeting of the Board of Trustees, initial 
information on music programming in YK1 schools was presented. At 
that time, the Board of Trustees requested additional details. This 
report is in response to that request. 

Information ● Sustainability Challenges for Music Programming 

o Sufficient qualified and trained staff to address attrition over time 

o Financial constraints 

▪ Maintenance of the instrument collection (repair and 
replacement) – All grade levels 

▪ State of instrument collections – Deteriorated – All Grade 
Levels 

▪ Licensing of materials for performance 

▪ Travel requirements for broadened musical performance 
experiences 

o Differing experiences and access to music programming across 
YK1 

● Curricular Challenges – Particularly at JK-8 as Music is only one sub-
components of the NWT’s curriculum for Fine Arts (Music, Visual 
Arts, Dance, Drama) 

o Curriculum designed to allow flexibility in achieving the Fine Arts 
content and competencies through a variety of Fine Arts 

Page 071 of 198



Form updated: October 2025 

● Larger question of how to address the curricular outcomes, 
particularly in the JK-8 schools (a multidimensional Arts Curriculum) 

o Resourcing 

o Staff Development 

o Assessment and Evaluation 

o Reporting 

● Revised NWT curriculum is not for publication yet, but previews show 
it closely mirrors BC’s curriculum (and a sample from BC’s 
curriculum is attached as an exemplar). 

Recommendations Accept for Information 

Attachments? __X__ Yes 

Summary of District Music Program Information 

SJF Arts Programming 

Sample Page from the BC Arts Curriculum K-9 

 

Page 072 of 198



Staff 
Headcount

All FA FTE 
(Total)

Music FTE Vis Arts FTE Drama FTE Dance FTE Music JK-3 Music 4-6 Music 7-8 Music 9-12

Range Lake North 1 0.750 0.750 0.000 0.000 0.000 2 periods per 
week

2 periods per 
week

2 periods per 
week

N/A

Mildred Hall 1 1.000 1.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 Average 3 
periods per 
week

2 periods per 
week

4 periods per 
week (offered 
as band)

N/A

William 
McDonald

1 1.000 1.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 N/A 3 periods per 
week

2 periods per 
week

1 additional 
period per 
week offered 
for Music 
Academy

N/A

NJ Macpherson 2 1.500 1.000 0.500 0.000 0.000 2 periods per 
week

2 periods per 
week

N/A N/A

Dedicated Fine Arts Staffing Programming DetailsSchool
Summary of YK1 Music Programs - JK - 8

Page 073 of 198



Itlo 1 0.500 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 JK and K 
students get 1 
period per 
week, Grade 1 
and 2 students 
get two 
periods per 
week.

None N/A N/A

Sir John Franklin 4 1.940 0.640 1.000 0.300 0.000 N/A N/A N/A All Grade 9 
students take 
two arts 
courses, one 
of which may 
be music

In Grades 10 
to 12 music is 
an elective 

Page 074 of 198



 O&M Fine 
Arts 

 O&M Music  O&M Vis Arts  O&M Drama  O&M Dance Staffing Notes - Specialist Staffing Notes - Generalists Additional Notes

Range Lake North  $                          -    $         1,000.00  $                          -    $                          -    $                          -   Certified teacher is offering 
Music and Drama, but is not a 
music specialist

Generalists teach their own 
additional Fine Arts to their 
students as part of their 
overall instructional planning, 
and integrated into their 
programs

Additional Fine Arts 
opportunities  are offered 
where possible through a 6 
week exploratory rotation

Music is used to provide some 
of the relief to classroom 
teachers for prep time snd/or 
PLC time. The remainder of 
relief time is provided through 
PE and Core French

Mildred Hall  $                          -    $                          -    $                          -    $                          -    $                          -   Certified teacher and music 
specialist is responsble for 
teaching the school's music 
program

Generalists teach their own 
additional Fine Arts to their 
students as part of their 
overall instructional planning, 
and integrated into their 
programs

No dedicated O&M funding in 
the school budget. Funds are 
allocated based on emerging 
needs

Music is used to provide some 
of the relief to classroom 
teachers for prep time snd/or 
PLC time. The remainder of 
relief time is provided through 
PE and Indigenous Langugage 
Instruction

William 
McDonald

 $                          -    $         1,646.00  $                          -    $                          -    $                          -   Certified teacher and music 
specialist is responsble for 
teaching the school's music 
program

Visual Arts and Dance are 
incorporated by regular 
classroom teachers into their 
programming

School offers one block of 
Music Academy to students 
on Fridays. Some Drama  is 
incorporated into dedicated 
Music classes. Music 
instruction focuses mostly on 
band and chroral.

Music is used to provide some 
of the relief to classroom 
teachers for prep time snd/or 
PLC time. The remainder of 
relief time is provided through 
PE, ADST, Fitness, and Core 
French

Dedicated O&M Budgets Additional NotesSchool

Page 075 of 198



NJ Macpherson  $         3,305.00  $                          -    $                          -    $                          -    $                          -   Staffing Notes - Certified 
specialist music teachers 
offer instruction to students in 
Music

Generalists teach their own 
additional Fine Arts (not 
covered by specialists) to 
their students as part of their 
overall instructional planning, 
and integrated into their 
programs

The school doesn't break 
down the Fine Arts budget into 
components, all Fine Arts 
programming draws from the 
single budget.

Drama and Dance are 
incorporated into dedicated 
music classes.

Music and Visual Arts are used 
to provide some of the relief to 
classroom teachers for prep 
time snd/or PLC time. The 
remainder of relief time is 
provided through PE and Core 
French.

Itlo  $         1,500.00  $                          -    $                          -    $                          -    $                          -   Certified teacher offers music 
and is experienced in 
teaching it. However they are 
not a fully trained music 
specialist.

Generalists teach their own 
additional Fine Arts to their 
students as part of their 
overall instructional planning, 
and integrated into their 
programs in JK-5

In addition, classroom 
teachers in Grades 3 to 5 
integrate music into the 
delivery of the curriculum in 
their classrooms as their 
preps are covered by the 
delivery of English, PE, and 
Indigenous Langauge

The school doesn't break 
down the Fine Arts budget into 
components, all Fine Arts 
programming draws from the 
single budget, including for Art 
Supplies

Music is used to provide some 
of the relief to JK - 2 classroom 
teachers for prep time snd/or 
PLC time. The remainder of 
relief time is provided through 
PE, English, and Indigenous 
Language Classes

PAC is providing additional 
funding to bring in a music 
specialist to visit the school 
twice a week for a cost of 
$7000

Page 076 of 198



Sir John Franklin  $         4,500.00  $                          -    $                          -    $                          -    $                          -   All Fine Arts courses (Art, 
Music/Band/Choir, Drama) 
are taught by certified 
teachers who are 
experienced and trained in 
their fields. FTEs given for 
staffing represent the staffing 
allocated over the entire year. 
The number of dedicated Fine 
Arts courses varies in each of 
the two semesters

All Fine Arts courses at 
secondary are taught by 
subject specialists.

See attached informmation 
sheet from Sir John Franklin's 
leadership team to help 
provide context as the high 
school's programming is 
structured very differently 
from that in JK-8 schools

Page 077 of 198



SJF Arts Programming 
Course Offerings 
 
Semester #1: 
Art: 
- Grade 9 (4 quarter classes) 
- Grade 10  
 
Drama: 
- Drama Tech  
- Drama 10-11-12 (2 classes) 
 
Music: 
- Music 9 (4 quarter classes) 
- Instrumental music 10-11-12 (band) 
 
*Band and Choir at lunchtime & after school from mid-September until mid-May 
*Rock band club offered at lunch once a week 
 
Semester #2: 
Art: 
- Grade 9 (4 quarter classes) 
- Grade 10 (2 classes) 
- Grade 11-12 (3 classes) 
 
Drama: 

- Drama 9 (4 quarter classes) 
 
Music: 
- Guitar 10-11-12  
 
*Band and Choir at lunchtime & after school from mid-September until mid-May. 
*Rock band club offered at lunch once a week 
 
Performances: 
Drama Production – November @ NACC 
Exam Plays – January in Black Box 
Winter Music Concert - December @ NACC 
Spring Music Concert - May @ NACC 
YK Music Festival – April/May  
Touring Ensemble Presentations – throughout the year 
 
 
 
 

Page 078 of 198



Successes 
Successes have been achieved by: 
- Mandating that incoming grade 9’s choose two of the three Arts courses to allow for a well-
rounded Arts introduction and education; 
- Continuing to offer after school band and choir both for credit and for enjoyment to provide 
students with practice performing in numerous contexts; 
- Mounting successful, sold out, Drama performances in NACC; 
- High degree of collaboration between the Music and Drama teachers to ensure that the 
presentation in NACC is of excellent quality; 
- Having students graduate and continue on in Art, Drama or Musical disciplines and have 
students seek out extra-curricular Arts experiences at University and beyond; 
- Expanding extra curricular offerings by adding Art club, Rock band and this year, a Fiddle 
club, to the weekly offerings; 
- Employing highly-trained, highly-experienced, extremely passionate educators delivering the 
programs; 
- Offering a very comprehensive experience in Drama that is comparable if not beyond what 
other students in other cities are getting due to the skill level of the teacher, the team approach to 
production, the use of local professional technicians and the excellent performance space; 
- Providing a healthy budget to allow for equipment purchase and ample supplies for student use; 
- Assuming that Arts teachers will volunteer their time outside of school to host concerts twice a 
year, coordinate performing ensembles for school and community events, arrange Visual Art 
displays, arrange for school and community performances of drama productions, organize field 
trips and enrichment trips, collaborate with community professionals without compensation or 
recognition of efforts. 
 
Challenges 
Many challenges remain: 
- All Arts department teachers are part-time staff;  
- Visual Art has three teachers delivering the courses; 
- Drama is delivered by two teachers; 
- Courses are added and dropped based on a shifting set of scheduling rules; 
- Many of the grade 10-12 classes in all Arts disciplines are multi-age classes rather than singular 
grade level classes; 
- Huge variance in student skill set coming into high school as the three middle schools do not 
offer the same Arts programming;   
- Student choice is the guiding principle for scheduling;  
- Arts teachers, Drama and Music specifically, are called upon to provide unpaid hours outside of 
working hours to ensure that performances are successful.   
 

Page 079 of 198



June 2016 www.curriculum.gov.bc.ca © Province of British Columbia • 3 

Area of Learning: ARTS EDUCATION Grade 2 

  

BIG IDEAS 

Creative expression develops our 

unique identity and voice. 

 Inquiry through the arts creates 

opportunities for risk taking. 

 Dance, drama, music, and visual 

arts are each unique languages 

for creating and communicating. 

 People connect to the hearts and 

minds of others in a variety of 

places and times through the arts. 

 

Learning Standards 

Curricular Competencies Content 

Students will be able to use creative processes to: 

Exploring and creating 

 Explore elements, processes, materials, movements, technologies, tools, and techniques 
of the arts 

 Create artistic works collaboratively and as an individual using ideas inspired by 
imagination, inquiry, experimentation, and purposeful play 

 Explore personal experience, community, and culture through arts activities 

Reasoning and reflecting 

 Observe and share how artists (dancers, actors, musicians, and visual artists) use 
processes, materials, movements, technologies, tools, and techniques 

 Develop processes and technical skills in a variety of art forms to refine artistic abilities 

 Reflect on creative processes and make connections to other experiences 

Communicating and documenting 

 Interpret symbolism and how it can be used to express meaning through the arts 

 Express feelings, ideas, stories, observations, and experiences through creative works 

 Describe and respond to works of art  

 Experience, document and share creative works in a variety of ways 

 Demonstrate increasingly sophisticated application and/or engagement of  
curricular content 

Students are expected to know the following: 

 elements in the arts, including but not limited to: 

— dance: body, space, dynamics, time, 
relationships, form 

— drama: character, time, place, plot, tension 

— music: beat/pulse, duration, rhythm, tempo, pitch, 
timbre, dynamics, form, texture 

— visual arts: elements of design: line, shape, texture, 
colour, form; principles of design: pattern, 
repetition, rhythm, contrast 

 processes, materials, technologies, tools, and 
techniques to support arts activities 

 notation to represent sounds, ideas, and movement 

 a variety of dramatic forms 

 symbolism as a means of expressing specific meaning 

 traditional and contemporary Aboriginal arts and arts-
making processes 

 a variety of local works of art and artistic traditions from 
diverse cultures, communities, times, and places 

 personal and collective responsibility associated  
with creating, experiencing, or sharing in a safe  
learning environment 

 

Page 080 of 198



Form updated: October 2025  

 
 
 

BOARD REPORT 
Title: School Class Size Report 

Contact: Landon Kowalzik, Assistant Superintendent 

Date Submitted: November 5, 2025 

Mandate ● To provide an update on the average class size by grade as per the 
Board’s request. 

     
Grade Average High Low Number of classes 
Junior Kindergarten 21.38 24 14 8 (1 is a JK/K split) 
Kindergarten 20.67 22 19 6 (1 is a JK/K split) 
Grade 1 19.8 24 16 9 (3 are splits) 
Grade 2 20 24 16 10 (5 are splits) 
Grade 3 21.18 24 16 11 (7 are splits) 
Grade 4 22.33 24 16 9 (6 are splits) 
Grade 5 21.11 26 18 9 (4 are splits) 
Grade 6 21.45 24 19 11 (6 are splits) 
Grade 7 21.8 26 17 10 (8 are splits) 
Grade 8 24.44 26 17 9 (5 are splits) 
Grade 9 core 23.62 29 17 37 
Grade 9 options 19.82 25 14 19 
Grade 9 all 22.65 29 14 60* 
Grade 10 core 22.83 31 11 30 (8 are splits) 
Grade 11 core 23.37 34 8 38 (11 are splits) 
Grade 12 core 22.21 35 12 29 (9 are splits) 
Grade 10 to 12 options 17.57 35 5 56 

Recommendations 

Accept as information 

Attachments?      Yes or  X  No 

 

Page 081 of 198



 

 BOARD REPORT 

Title: Organizational Chart – YK1 Staffing Structure and Funding 
Sources 

Contact: Barbara Bell 

Date Submitted: November 6, 2025 

Mandate This report supports Policy 2 – Role of the Board and Policy 12 – Role of 
the Superintendent, which outline the Board’s responsibility to ensure 
effective organization, accountability, and transparency within YK1. 

Background The purpose of this request is to provide Trustees with a comprehensive 
overview of YK1’s organizational structure, including reporting lines and 
funding sources, to inform governance planning and resource oversight. 

The organizational chart outlines the structure of YK1 from the 
Superintendent through to school leadership and support roles, 
including: 

Principals and Vice-Principals; 

Program Coordinators; 

Student Support and Inclusion staff; 

Mental Health and Wellness team members; and 

Administrative and operational support roles. 

This chart will clearly identify which positions are funded through the 
Government of the Northwest Territories (GNWT) and which are 
supported by YK1’s surplus or other discretionary funding sources. 

 

Recommendations 
for the December 
Board meeting:  

That the Yellowknife Education District No. 1 Board of Trustees direct 
the Superintendent to bring forward an updated organizational chart 
outlining all current YK1 positions from the Superintendent through to 
school-level leadership and support staff, including identification of 
funding sources (GNWT-funded versus YK1 surplus-funded) for each 
position. 

 

Form updated: October 2025 

Page 082 of 198



 

 BOARD REPORT 

Title: Five-Year Maintenance Plan Progress and Reassembly of the 
Facilities Committee 

Contact: Tina Drew 

Date Submitted: November 6, 2025 

Mandate Supports safe, well-maintained learning environments through 
transparent planning and reporting on infrastructure priorities. 

Background A five-year maintenance plan was previously developed to guide YK1’s 
long-term facility planning and ensure proactive management of capital 
and maintenance projects. 

 

This report provides an update on what has been completed from the 
original five-year plan and highlights remaining priorities. 

 

Given limited time at Finance Committee meetings to review 
facility-related matters in depth, Administration recommends 
reassembling the Facilities Committee to support focused discussion, 
prioritization, and oversight of ongoing and upcoming projects. 

Recommendations I move that the Yellowknife Education District No. 1 Board of Trustees 
reassemble the Facilities Committee to provide dedicated oversight of 
facility planning, maintenance priorities, and capital projects, and to 
receive regular updates on the completion of the Five-Year Maintenance 
Plan. 

Attachments? 

 
 

No 

 

Form updated: October 2025 

Page 083 of 198



 

 BOARD REPORT 

Title:  Homebase Tier 4 Stabilization Education Partnership 

Contact: Shirley Zouboules 

Date Submitted: November 12, 2025 

Mandate ●​ Cultivate a culture of holistic wellness 

●​ Honour and celebrate Indigenous Language and Culture for all 
learners 

●​ Ensure inclusive, equitable and authentic learning experiences  

●​ Foster critical understanding of local, national and global issues  

 

Background This is an initiative that aims to support students who are housed with 
Homebase to continue to engage in learning.  

In partnership with YCS and Homebase, this initiative would allow youth 
to continue to access a learning plan that meets their needs, in an 
environment that is familiar and well supported. 

With support from ECE, this initiative would be unique, in that the intent 
is to allow youth to receive supported education opportunities, in situ.  

 

Recommendations The YK1 Board of Trustees support administration to work with YCS and 
Homebase to pursue this project. 

Attachments? 

 
 x   Yes or      No    If yes, list attachments below 

Homebase Tier 4 Stabilization Education Partnership 
 

Form updated: October 2025 

Page 084 of 198



DR
AF
T

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Page 085 of 198



DR
AF
T

 

Purpose:  
Deliver trauma‑informed, culturally grounded Tier 4 education and stabilization for youth in crisis 
(predominantly First Nations) who are street‑involved, in HBYK care, or temporarily brought to 
Yellowknife from smaller NWT communities for short‑term mental‑health/treatment. This off‑site 
program is an intensive, therapeutic educational intervention (not an alternative learning center) 
designed to stabilize students, restore engagement, and transition them to 
alternative/mainstream schools or employment pathways. 
 
Delivery model:  
On‑site at Youth Centre (HBYK) with two dedicated teachers (one YK1, one YCS) providing 
small‑group and 1:1 or small group literacy, numeracy, life/work skills, credit recovery and 
pre‑employment/trades exposure. Wraparound support provided by Home Base clinical staff, 
Elders and Knowledge Keepers, GNWT Health/Justice as needed (Restorative Justice), and 
community partners (Aurora College, employers). 
 
Key supports & programming:  
Trauma‑informed clinical services (early recovery, relapse prevention, CBT/MI, group therapy), 
restorative cultural facilitation by Elders/Knowledge Keepers, hands‑on project‑based learning, 
competency‑based crediting, case management, and transitional supports (housing, employment 
placements). 
 
Rationale:  
These students require intensive Tier 4 interventions not available in Yellowknife. Off‑site delivery 
within HBYK enables continuity of therapeutic and cultural support essential for stabilization and 
measurable academic progress. 
 
Outcomes & metrics:  
Number served, origin (local/out‑of‑jurisdiction), baseline and periodic literacy/numeracy scores, 
IEP completion, credits earned, attendance/engagement hours, clinical stabilization indicators, 
percent reintegrated to school/work, post‑transition follow‑up at 3 and 6 months, and 
cost‑per‑student. 
 
Funding & designation:  
The program aligns with Magnet Facility criteria given out‑of‑jurisdiction intake and 
residential/treatment context; requests GNWT confirmation of designation and associated 
funding. Accountability via quarterly and annual reporting on student outcomes and financials. 
 
Estimated resources (high level):  
2 teachers (1.0 FTE each), 0.5 - 1.0 FTE program lead/coordinator, clinical supports via Home Base 
(cost‑share/contract), Elders/Knowledge Keeper honoraria, classroom materials, 

2 

Page 086 of 198



DR
AF
T

 

devices/connectivity, facility use agreement, transportation and evaluation costs. Detailed budget 
to follow once target concurrent capacity is confirmed. 
 
Governance:  
Multi‑party MOU, tri‑party operational team, steering committee with GNWT representation, 
data‑sharing agreements, and regular reporting cadence.   
Response to the Education, Culture and Employment Department Questions: 
 
Student Population & Needs 

●​ Description: Youth in crisis: street-involved, in HBYK care, or brought to Yellowknife from 

smaller NWT communities for short-term mental health/treatment. Predominantly First 

Nations with complex trauma, interrupted schooling, unstable family connections, 

substance use risk, and unstable housing. Some participation will be voluntary; others 

placed for safety/treatment. 

●​ Rationale: These students require intensive, trauma-informed, culturally grounded Tier 4 
supports not currently available in Yellowknife; without this intervention many remain 
street-involved or fail in existing alternative programs. 

●​ Needs: individualized education plans (IEPs), culturally safe practices led by 
Elders/Knowledge Keepers, low teacher-to-student ratios, integrated mental-health and 
addiction supports, flexible schedules, basic literacy and numeracy, pre-employment and 
trades exposure, and transitional planning for reintegration. 

●​ Suggested metrics: number served (by origin), enrollment status (voluntary/placed), 
baseline and periodic literacy/numeracy assessments, IEP completion rate, 
mental-health/stability indicators (validated tools), attendance/engagement hours, credits 
earned, progression to alternative school/mainstream/work placement, and 
post-transition follow-up at 3 & 6 months. 

 
Program Structure 

●​ Model: Off-site, on-location education delivered within Home Base facilities (not a 
school-site magnet facility). This is an intensive Tier 4 intervention program rather than a 
standard alternative learning center. 

●​ Operating hours: Primarily daytime programming with flexibility for evening or weekend 
sessions when clinically indicated or for work placement requirements; programming 
year-round with modified summer supports to maintain stabilization (summer months 
could focus on pre-employment training, work placements, etc.). 

●​ Attendance vs progress: Flexible attendance/progress model emphasizing 
demonstrated competency, credits earned, and real-world skill acquisition over standard 
seat-time. 

3 

Page 087 of 198



DR
AF
T

 

●​ Integration: Students taught separately at HBYK (safe, therapeutic environment) with 
planned transitions back to YK1/YCS alternative or mainstream settings or into work 
placements when stabilized. 

●​ Rationale: Off-site delivery at HBYK ensures continuity with clinical support and creates 
culturally safe environments essential for first-stage stabilization. 

 
Educational Delivery 

●​ Staffing/roles: Two dedicated teachers (1 YK1, 1 YCS) providing direct instruction in 
literacy, numeracy, life skills, and pre-employment programming; HBYK staff and clinical 
providers supply day-to-day supports and therapeutic programming; Elders/Knowledge 
Keepers provide restorative cultural facilitation. 

●​ Instructional approaches: Small-group and 1:1 instruction, hands-on project-based 
learning, credit recovery and modularized courses, blended/online resources as needed, 
and partnerships for trades/work-exposure opportunities. 

●​ Curriculum: Customized Education Plans (CEPs/IEPs) aligned to territorial graduation 
outcomes where possible but flexible to award credits or documented learning toward 
reintegration and employability. Emphasis on essential competencies, workplace 
readiness, and cultural knowledge. 

●​ Assessment: Regular formative assessments, competency-based crediting where 
appropriate, and documented learning plans reviewed in multi-disciplinary team 
meetings. 

●​ Rationale: Specialized educators plus wraparound supports enable both stabilization and 
measurable academic progress for complex-needs students. 

 
Funding & Accountability 

●​ Eligibility/designation: Given the out-of-jurisdiction intake (students brought from 
smaller NWT communities) and placement in a residential/treatment-like setting, the 
partnership aligns more closely with Magnet Facility designation than a conventional 
Alternative High School model.  

●​ Reporting/accountability: Annual and quarterly reporting to GNWT covering: student 
counts (local/out-of-jurisdiction), demographics (Indigenous status), service metrics 
(attendance/engagement hours, credits earned, transitions), clinical outcomes (stability, 
service utilization), staff FTE and expenditures, and a consolidated financial statement. 

●​ Fiscal oversight: Joint governance for budget approvals, with regular financial 
reconciliations provided to GNWT. The program will track per-student costs and 
cost-savings associated with reduced emergency/crisis utilization where data is available. 

●​ Suggested metrics for accountability: cost per student, credits per student, percent 
reintegrated, clinical stabilization rates, and post-transition outcomes at 3/6 months. 

●​ Rationale: Magnet designation would permit funding for students placed from other 
jurisdictions and better reflect the program’s intensive therapeutic/residential nexus. 

 

4 

Page 088 of 198



DR
AF
T

 

Partnerships & Support 
●​ Core partners: HBYK  (facility, clinical staff, day-to-day care), Yellowknife Catholic 

Schools (YCS teacher), YK1 (YK1 teacher), Elders and Knowledge Keepers 
(cultural/restorative facilitation). 

●​ External partners: GNWT Health and Justice as required for clinical and safety 
coordination; Aurora College for trades and credential pathways; community agencies for 
employment, housing and social supports. 

●​ Wraparound services: On-site clinical interventions (early recovery, relapse prevention, 
CBT/MI, group therapy), psychoeducation, case management, career planning, transitional 
housing coordination, and culturally specific healing practices. 

●​ Governance: Multi-party Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) defining roles, 
data-sharing agreements, confidentiality, reporting lines, and escalation procedures. 
Regular tri-party operational meetings and a steering committee with HBYK , YK1, YCS, 
and GNWT representation. 

●​ Rationale: Multi-sector collaboration is essential to address education, health, justice, 
and housing determinants simultaneously. 

 
Long-Term Goals 

●​ Primary goals: Stabilize youth in crisis, provide culturally safe Tier 4 education and 
clinical supports, and prepare students to reintegrate into alternative/mainstream schools 
or workforce placements when ready. 

●​ Outcomes sought: increased literacy/numeracy and employability skills, measurable 
credit attainment or documented competencies, improved mental-health stabilization, 
reduced street-involvement and crisis episodes, and strengthened Indigenous cultural 
identity and support. 

●​ Population stability: The program will primarily serve a transient cohort (short-term 
stabilization and treatment stays), with individualized transition pathways; capacity 
planning should account for turnover and episodic inflows from smaller communities. 

●​ Sustainability goals: Demonstrate outcomes to secure ongoing Magnet-aligned 
funding, expand partnerships with Aurora College and employers for sustainable work 
pathways, and scale culturally led supports (Elders/Knowledge Keepers) across related 
services. 

●​ Suggested long-term metrics: reintegration rate, sustained engagement at 6 months, 
employment/education placement rate at 6 months, reduction in acute-system usage 
(Health/Justice), and Indigenous cultural well-being indicators developed with Elders. 

 
High-level Budget Items (suggested) 

●​ Staffing: 2 teachers (1.0 FTE each) with trauma-informed and special education 
experience; partial FTE for program lead/coordinator (0.5–1.0 FTE); wraparound clinical 
supports provided by HBYK (cost-sharing or contract); Elder/Knowledge Keeper honoraria 
(ongoing / per-session). 

5 

Page 089 of 198



DR
AF
T

 

●​ Direct program costs: classroom materials, laptops/tablets and connectivity, 
small-group supplies, trades/workshop materials, student safety/stabilization supplies. 

●​ Operational: facility use agreement with HBYK , janitorial/security as required, 
transportation for off-site placements, background checks and mandatory training, data 
collection/IT support. 

●​ Professional services: short-term contracted therapists, training in trauma-informed 
practice, cultural competence training for staff. 

●​ Evaluation & reporting: baseline evaluation, annual independent outcomes evaluation, 
data management costs. 

●​ Contingency & transition supports: housing transition funds, short-term emergency 
supports for students, employer engagement costs. 

●​ Ballpark per-year estimate to budget: provide ranges once student capacity is 
defined (example: 10–15 students concurrently may require approx. 2.0 - 3.0 FTE 
educators/coordinator + clinical supports; estimated operational budget range to be 
developed). We can produce a detailed budget once you confirm target capacity and FTE 
assumptions. 

 

6 

Page 090 of 198



 

 BOARD REPORT 
 

Title: Request for International Travel for PD 

Contact: Shirley Zouboules, Superintendent 

Date Submitted: November 12, 2025 

Mandate ●​ Cultivate a culture of holistic wellness 

●​ Honour and celebrate Indigenous Language and Culture for all 
learners 

●​ Ensure inclusive, equitable and authentic learning experiences  

●​ Foster critical understanding of local, national and global issues  

Background Staff benefit from opportunities to learn from and with 
colleagues. We have received 2 requests for international 
travel to attend professional development. 

 Attached are two requests for Pd.  

 YK1 values professional learning. Staff actively seek 
opportunities to gain knowledge and hone their skills through 
attending conferences. 

Once approved, they will be submitted to ECE for the Minister’s 
approval. 

 

Recommendations Approve the requests for travel in order for it to be sent to the 
Minister’s Office for approval.  

Attachments? Yes_x___    No____ (list attachments) 

staff member requests for travel to US and conference overview 

 

 

Form updated: November 2024 

Page 091 of 198



Page 092 of 198



Page 093 of 198



Page 094 of 198



Page 095 of 198



Page 096 of 198



Page 097 of 198



Page 098 of 198



Page 099 of 198



Page 100 of 198



Page 101 of 198



Page 102 of 198



Page 103 of 198



Page 104 of 198



Page 105 of 198



Page 106 of 198



Page 107 of 198



Page 108 of 198



Page 109 of 198



Page 110 of 198



Page 111 of 198



Page 112 of 198



Page 113 of 198



 

 BOARD REPORT 

Title: Board Workplan 

Contact: Barbara Bell 

Date Submitted: November 6, 2025 

Mandate The Workplan serves as the guiding framework to ensure that all 
recurring items—financial reports, policy reviews, annual reports, and 
strategic updates—are brought forward to the Board in a timely and 
transparent manner. 

Background The Board Workplan is reviewed annually and updated as needed to 
reflect changes to the governance calendar, legislative requirements, 
and committee reporting cycles. 

This updated version includes a Status column to track whether items 
have been presented, deferred, or completed. 

 

Recommendations 
for the December 
Board meeting:  

I move that the Yellowknife Education District No. 1 Board of Trustees 
take the 2025–2026 Workplan to their respective Committee meetings 
to review and make updates where needed, and that the updated 
Workplan be brought forward to the December Committee of the Whole 
(COW) for discussion and to the December Regular Board Meeting for 
final approval. 

Attachments? 

 
 

2025-2026 Workplan  

 

Form updated: October 2025 

Page 114 of 198



Form updated: October 2025 

 

 BOARD REPORT 

Title: Public Access to Committee Meetings 

Contact: Barbara Bell 

Date Submitted: Nov 11, 2025 

Mandate YK1 Board Committees are established under Policy 8 – Committees of 
the Board to support effective governance and ensure open, 
transparent, and accountable decision-making. Committees report to 
the Board of Trustees. 

General 
Information: 

All Committee meetings are open to the public unless the matter being 
discussed is confidential and requires an In-Camera session. 

Meeting notices and agendas shall be posted to the YK1 website in 
advance of each meeting to support transparency and public 
engagement. Members of the public are welcome to attend in person or 
join online through a virtual meeting link, in accordance with the Board 
By-Laws (Meetings Through Electronic Means). 

Each Committee reports directly to the Board through minutes which 
will be included in the next regular Board meeting package and may be 
called upon to speak on behalf of the Committee when required. 

The Chairperson of each Committee is responsible for ensuring that 
meeting dates, agendas, and outcomes are shared publicly and that all 
proceedings comply with Board policy and by-law requirements. 

Recommendations That the Yellowknife Education District No. 1 Board of Trustees direct 
the Superintendent - or designate - and Committee Chairs to work 
together,  to ensure that agendas for all Committee meetings are 
finalized and ready no later than three days (where possible) prior to 
the Committee meeting, and that agendas be shared with the Board 
and posted publicly on the YK1 website once received, to support 
transparency and public access.  

 

Page 115 of 198



 

 BOARD REPORT 
 

Title: Chairs report  

Contact: Barbara Bell  

Meeting: November 12, 2025 

   Regular meetings  
●​ Chair and Superintendent weekly meetings  
●​ Met with Minister Cleveland on Oct 19, 2025  
●​ In Confidence discussions with the Board and Superintendent on Oct 22, 2025 
●​ Speaker Kendal Netmaker - Oct 22, 2025 
●​ PAC Chairs lunch - Oct 27, 2025 
●​ Jr and Senior Spike it - October - November 2025 
●​ Education Leaders Premeeting - Oct 28, 2025 
●​ In confidence meeting with Minister and ECE - Oct 29, 2025 
●​ BCSTA Introductory meeting - Oct 30, 2025   
●​ Special board meeting - Oct 31, 2025  
●​ YKDFN Council Meeting - November 4, 2025  

1.​ Kendal Netmaker (Oct 22, 2025) 

On October 22, 2025, I attended an event at Sir John Franklin High School to hear 
Kendal Netmaker speak. I was surrounded by engaged students and staff and was truly 
honoured to attend. 

Kendal, who was raised in Sweetgrass First Nation, shared his story of growing up in 
poverty and being raised by a single mother — and how one small act of kindness 
changed the direction of his life. 

He spoke about the importance of leadership, resilience, and giving back, reminding us 
that success is not about where you come from, but what you choose to do with the 
opportunities you have. 

His message focused on using your story as a source of strength, staying grounded in 
your values, and helping others rise with you. Kendal encouraged everyone to keep 
moving forward despite challenges and to continue creating spaces where people feel 
valued, included, and capable of achieving great things. 

Book - Driven To Succeed: From Poverty To Podium - A First-nation Success Story 

2.​ PAC Chairs Meeting (Oct 27, 2025) 

At the recent PAC Chairs meeting, we discussed items such as identifying schools that 
may have the capacity to host upcoming Board Education Meetings, treasurers for PACs 
and the upcoming Education Leaders Meeting. 

PAC Chairs were also asked to gather ideas on how Trustees can continue engaging 
with parents now that we no longer attend PAC meetings directly. 

Form updated: November 2024 
 

Page 116 of 198



3.​ BCSTA Introductory meeting (Oct 30, 2025)  

I met with Trevor Davies and Tracy Loffler from the BC School Trustees Association 
(BCSTA) for an introductory conversation. I expressed how grateful we are that BCSTA 
continues to include YK1 and invite us to participate in their Trustee Academy. I also 
mentioned that I look forward to connecting again when we are in British Columbia. 

During our discussion, I asked about mentorship opportunities and any advice they 
could offer as I continue in my role as Chair. Tracy recommended two resources: 101 
Boardroom Problems and The Governance Core (which also has a companion  

workbook). 

Trevor noted that BCSTA is piloting a new trustee training course and invited me to sit 
in on the overview session while we are in BC. I gladly accepted his offer. 

 

4.​ Jr and Senior Spike it (October - November 2025) 

Over the last few weeks, our schools have been busy! For example, École William 
McDonald Middle School saw record participation in its volleyball program, with 180 
students competing across 17 teams — more than any other school in the city. This 
incredible achievement was made possible through the dedication of ten staff members 
who volunteered countless hours after school for practices, games, and the Spike It 
Tournament. Their commitment and enthusiasm truly exemplify the spirit of YK1 — 
creating opportunities that build confidence, teamwork, and lifelong memories for our 
students. 

I also heard that Senior Spike It was a huge success, with our teams even bringing 
home a few banners! Honestly, I’ve never seen so much team spirit in my life. It was 
such a pleasure to watch, and I want to give a huge shout-out to all the students who 
participated and to the incredible staff who made it all happen. 

YK1 students and staff truly shone throughout both tournaments — showing leadership, 
sportsmanship, and pride that made our entire district proud. Some of my best 
memories growing up are of teachers who cheered me on along the way, and it’s clear 
that same energy and encouragement are alive and well in our schools today. 

Led coordination among NWT education body chairs in preparation for the upcoming 
Education Leaders Meeting with Minister Cleveland. This included facilitating the 
October 28 virtual planning session and ensuring all regions had a chance to confirm 
agenda leads and objectives. Key items include Jordan’s Principle funding, the inclusive 
schooling review, the Interim Support Assistant Initiative, capital planning, and user 
agreements 

 

5.​ Education Leaders Premeeting (Oct 28, 2025) 

Led coordination among NWT education body chairs as well as superintendents, in 
preparation for the upcoming Education Leaders Meeting. All regions had a chance to 
confirm agenda leads and objectives. Key items include Jordan’s Principle funding, the 
inclusive schooling review, the Interim Support Assistant Initiative, capital planning, 
and user agreements. The next pre meeting is Nov 13, 2025.  

 

Form updated: November 2024 
 

Page 117 of 198

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1HkuuHxyZoaJobWr_IX-fJqTMdFkaBk5g


6.​ Special board meeting (Oct 31, 2025) 

Attended the Special Board Meeting where trustees reviewed and approved several 
important and time-sensitive items, including budget amendments, updates to the 
Interim Support Assistant Initiative, and the new USW Agreement. 

I’m grateful to trustees and administration for coming together and working 
collaboratively to move these items forward for our schools. 

 

7.​ YKDFN Council Meeting (November 4, 2025) 

I had the honour of being invited to attend the November 4, 2025  YKDFN Council 
meeting to begin an open and collaborative conversation about how YK1 can better 
reflect and support YKDFN values, culture, and priorities in our schools. The discussion 
was warm and constructive, the council shared ideas around bringing more Elders and 
knowledge keepers into schools, to the board table, creating opportunities for sharing 
circles with families, and ensuring ongoing communication between YK1 and YKDFN 
leadership.  

Important Dates  Weekly meetings with Superintendent (Wednesdays)  
Nov 11, 2025 - Remembrance Day 
Nov 13, 2025 Follow up meeting with Education Leaders 
Nov 14, 2025 - Empowering Leadership - Political Networking with 
Equal Voice NWT 
Nov 17, 2025 Education Leaders meeting (Full day) 
Nov 25, 2025 Finance and Facilities Meeting 
Nov 25, 2025 Board Education Information Session  
November 26 -29 Vancouver, BCSTA Conference   

 

Recommendation  I move that the Yellowknife Education District No. 1 Board of Trustees 
direct the Superintendent to work with the CEO of the Yellowknives 
Dene First Nation (YKDFN) to explore the establishment of an ad hoc 
committee where YK1 and YKDFN leadership can meet to discuss ways 
to strengthen connection, collaboration, and advocacy for our shared 
schools, students, and community. 

 

Form updated: November 2024 
 

Page 118 of 198



 

Event Summary: Spike It (Volleyball) 2025-2026 

Jr Spike It Volleyball 

Date: October 23-25, 2025 

Location/Venue: 

●​ Grade 6 Girls (11 and under): Range Lake North School 
●​ Grade 6 Boys (11 and under): École William Macdonald Middle School 
●​ Grade 7 Girls (12 and under): École Alain St-Cyr 
●​ Grade 7 Boys (12 and under): École Saint Joseph School 
●​ Grade 8 Girls (13 and under): École St. Patrick High School  
●​ Grade 8 Boys (13 and under): Weledeh Catholic School 

Region(s)/Participating Schools Represented: 

●​ Yellowknife Education District No. 1 
○​ (2 Teams) Range Lake North School 
○​ (18 Teams) École William Macdonald Middle School 
○​ (4 Teams) Mildred Hall School 

●​ Yellowknife Catholic Schools 
○​ (6 Teams) École Saint Joseph School 
○​ (5 Teams) Weledeh Catholic School 
○​ (5 Teams) École St. Patrick High School  

●​ Commission Scolaire Francophone, Territories du Nord-Ouest 
○​ (2 Teams) École Alain St-Cyr  

●​ Tłı̨chǫ Community Services Agency 
○​ (2 Teams) Elizabeth Mackenzie Elementary 
○​ (1 Team) Chief Jimmy Bruneau Regional High School 
○​ (1 Team) Mezi Community School 

●​ South Slave Divisional Education Council 
○​ (2 Teams) Chief Sunrise Education Centre 

 
Total Teams Overall: 48 Teams 

Total Youth Participants:  

●​ Grade 6 Girls (11 and under): 90 participants 
●​ Grade 6 Boys (11 and under): 70 participants 
●​ Grade 7 Girls (12 and under): 110 participants  
●​ Grade 7 Boys (12 and under): 60 participants 
●​ Grade 8 Girls (13 and under): 80 participants 
●​ Grade 8 Boys (13 and under): 70 participants 

 
Total Participants: 480 students 

 

Page 119 of 198



 

Sr Spike It Volleyball 

Date: October 30-November 2 

Location/Venue: 

●​ École Sir John Franklin High School 
●​ Weledeh Catholic School 
●​ École St. Patrick High School 

Region(s)/Participating Schools Represented: 

●​ Yellowknife Education District No. 1 
○​ (18 Teams) École Sir John Franklin High School 

●​ Yellowknife Catholic Schools 
○​ (11 Teams) École St. Patrick High School 

●​ Commission Scolaire Francophone, Territories du Nord-Ouest 
○​ (2 Teams) École Alain St-Cyr  

●​ Tłı̨chǫ Community Services Agency 
○​ (2 Teams) Chief Jimmy Bruneau Regional High School 

●​ South Slave Divisional Education Council 
○​ (1 Team) Chief Sunrise Education Centre 
○​ (4 Teams) Paul William Kaeser High School 
○​ (4 Teams) Diamond Jenness Secondary School 

●​ Sahtu Divisional Education Council  
○​ (1 Team) Chief T'Selehye School 
○​ (1 Team) Ehtseo Ayha School 
○​ (1 Team) Colville Lake School 
○​ (1 Team) Chief Albert Wright School 

 
Total Teams Overall: 46 Teams 

Total Youth Participants:  

●​ 15U Girls: 150 participants 
●​ 15U Boys: 100 participants 
●​ 19U Girls: 110 participants 
●​ 19U Boys: 100 participants 

 
Total Participants: 460 students 

Sanction Event 

Tier 1 Sanctioned Event: https://ntssa.ca/events/sanctioned-events/ 
 

Partners & Supporters 

●​ NT School Sports (Lead Organizer) 
●​ MACA – Sport & Recreation Division  
●​ NWT & Nunavut Lotteries 

Page 120 of 198

https://ntssa.ca/events/sanctioned-events/


 

●​ Booster Juice 
●​ Polarnorth Janitorial Services  
●​ Commission Scolaire Francophone, Territories du Nord-Ouest 
●​ Yellowknife Education District No. 1  
●​ Yellowknife Catholic Schools 

Event Highlights 

Results: https://ntssa.ca/events/spike-it-volleyball/ 

Grade 6 Boys: 

Gold - Ecole St Joseph School  

Silver - Ecole William MacDonald School 

 

Grade 6 Girls: 

Gold - Weledeh Catholic School 

Silver - Ecole St Joseph School 

 

Grade 7 Boys: 

Gold - Ecole William MacDonald School 

Silver - Ecole William MacDonald School 

 

Grade 7 Girls: 

Gold - Ecole St Joseph School 

Silver - Weledeh Catholic School 

 

Grade 8 Boys: 

Gold - Ecole William MacDonald School 

Silver - Ecole St Patrick High School 

 

Grade 8 Girls: 

Gold - Ecole William MacDonald School 

Silver - Ecole St Patrick High School 

 

15U Girls Tier 1 

1st - Ecole St. Patrick High School 

2nd - Ecole Sir John Franklin High School 

 

15U Girls Tier 2 

1st - Chief Sunrise Education Centre 

2nd - Ecole Sir John Franklin High School 

 

15U Boys Tier 1 

1st - Diamond Jenness Secondary School 

2nd - Ecole St. Patrick High School 

 

15U Boys Tier 2 

1st - Ecole Sir John Franklin High School 

2nd - Ecole Allain St-Cyr 

 

18U Girls Tier 1 

1st - Ecole Sir John Franklin High School 

2nd - Ecole Sir John Franklin High School 

 

18U Girls Tier 2 

1st - Ecole Sir John Franklin High School 

2nd - Ecole St. Patrick High School 

 

18U Boys Tier 1 

1st - Ecole St. Patrick High School 

2nd - Chief T'Selehye School  

 

18U Boys Tier 2 

1st - Ecole St. Patrick High School 

2nd - Ecole Sir John Franklin High School 

 

 

Page 121 of 198

https://ntssa.ca/events/spike-it-volleyball/


 

 

Facebook: https://www.facebook.com/ntschoolsports 

Instagram: https://www.instagram.com/ntschoolsports/# 

 

Administration 

JR and SR Spike It Registration Package: Registration Spike It 2025 
 

Page 122 of 198

https://www.facebook.com/ntschoolsports
https://www.instagram.com/ntschoolsports/#
https://www.cognitoforms.com/NorthwestTerritoriesSchoolSportsAssociation/SpikeIt


 

 BOARD REPORT 
 

Title: Superintendent Board Report 

Contact: Shirley Zouboules, Superintendent 

Date Submitted: November 12, 2025 

Mandate ●​ Cultivate a culture of holistic wellness 

●​ Honour and celebrate Indigenous Language and Culture for all 
learners 

●​ Ensure inclusive, equitable and authentic learning experiences  

●​ Foster critical understanding of local, national and global issues  

Updates ●​  Negotiations for NWTTA & USW 
●​ “The Power Of Hope: How One Person Can Change The World” 

Kendal Netmaker   October 22nd 
●​  Implementation of the Grade 4 and 7 Foundation Skill Assessments 
●​ Spike It! Junior and Senior Tournaments 
●​ Lawrie Hobart Volleyball Tournament in Fort Smith (SJF) 
●​ PAC Chairs Lunch 
●​ Messy Book program starts at MHS 
●​ NOW Play projects are underway 
●​ Continued work with GNWT partners on safe water 

 

Looking ahead ●​ Parent/Teacher/Student Conferences  
November 12 & 13 4-7:00 p.m. SJF 

              November 25 & 26th 4-7:00 p.m. 

●​ SJF - Frozen! 
●​ Challenge Cup 2025 
●​ Winter shows at schools 

 

Recommendations Accept as information  

Attachments? Yes___    No__x__ (list attachments) 
 

 
 

Form updated: November 2024 

Page 123 of 198



 

 BOARD REPORT 
 

Title:  Tree of Peace Gathering 

Contact:  Shirley Zouboules, Superintendent 

Date Submitted:  November 12, 2025 

Mandate ●​ Cultivate a culture of holistic wellness 

●​ Honour and celebrate Indigenous Language and Culture for all 
learners 

●​ Ensure inclusive, equitable and authentic learning experiences  

●​ Foster critical understanding of local, national and global issues  

Background YK1 has developed and maintained positive partnerships throughout 
Yellowknife. Recently, Mildred Hall School and YK1 partnered with the 
Tree of Peace to host a gathering at MHS.  
Hazhǫ Ełexè Łets’eèzhe Network is a program that operates out of the 
Tree of Peace.  
This event brought many community organizations that support youth in 
our community together to find ways to build new and deeper 
connections between the organization and YK1. 

Looking ahead YK1 will continue to attend and support Gatherings and strengthening 
partnerships within the community  in order for students to have as 
many connections and opportunities as possible.  
 
 

Recommendations Accept as information  

Attachments? Yes__x__    No____ (list attachments) 
Tree of Peace Gathering Recap 
 

 

Form updated: November 2024 

Page 124 of 198



HAZHǪ  EŁEXÈ ŁETS’EÈZHE
EHTS’O K’E YATS’EHTII ZAÀ
OCTOBER GATHERING RECAP

Hosted by: YK1
Date: October 10, 2025
Location: Mildred Hall School Fire Pit & Tipi

Page 125 of 198



Hazhǫ  Ełexè Łets’eèzhe, translates from from Wıılııdeh to English means
“we all grow together” or that “we are all connected.”   Hazhǫ  Ełexè
Łets’eèzhe Monthly Gatherings are an important part of developing and
maintaining effective community partnerships.   Understanding that we all
have gifts to share is important to ensuring the development of a diverse
range of supports for youth in our community.  

Our Ehts’o K’e Yats’ehtii Zaà (October) Gathering began in a good way with a
Feeding of the Fire Ceremony led by Ms. Shelia Stewart, the Indigenous
Language Teacher at Mildred Hall School.   A new community partner to the
north experienced this ceremony for the first time.  They shared that the
experience was moving.   

Photos and artworks by Elaine Landry

Page 126 of 198



We  gathered inside the school tipi, which serves as the school’s
language classroom. As we entered the space, a flock of geese flying in
V formation greeted us at the entrance, and served as a reminder of
the importance of shared leadership. This symbolism mirrors the
essence of the Network, where various community and youth-serving
partners take turns hosting the Hazhǫ  Ełexè Łets’eèzhe Monthly
Gatherings. 

Mahsi to the warm welcome from the Yellowknife Education District
No. 1 (YK1) from Shirley Zouboules, Superintendent of YK1, Léa
Lamoureux, Principal at Mildred Hall School and Ms. Shelia Stewart,
the Indigenous Language Teacher at Mildred Hall School. 

Page 127 of 198



Léa Lamoureux, the Principal at Mildred Hall School shared a message of
advocacy to start us off with an important message to guide our time
together:

“every child and youth in 
our community needs to feel
like they belong in all spaces.” 

Page 128 of 198



Breaking the Ice & Getting to Know Each Other

The Gathering’s Coin Icebreaker Activity was a great way to get to
know each other better.  We were asked to pair up with someone we
didn’t know.  

Here’s a description of the icebreaker,  in case you’d like to facilitate it
yourself.  

This coin icebreaker game can be played with pennies or any coins.
Have the coins in a bag or a bowl that is easy to pass around. Each
person, takes a coin, reads the year (provide a magnifying glass for
those who may need assistance), and then tells something that
happened to them in that year. Make sure the dates are within the ages
of your participants. If you have a diverse group, you may make the
rule that if a younger participant gets a year that is before their birth,
then they should share their earliest memory.  You can choose
whether to ask for the coins back or let them keep them.

If you have time and would like to debrief this icebreaker activity
afterwards, you could ask these questions:

Could you relate to the events that others shared?
How the diversity of our experiences brings a richness to our
network?

Page 129 of 198



Small Group Discussions

Community partners formed four groups.  
1) Dandelions
2) Cranberries
3) Juniper berries
4) Fireweed 

Groups explored two Guiding Questions: 

1) How does your organization work with schools
2) How would you like your organization to engage with schools? 

Page 130 of 198



Key Discussions Points

Engagement with Schools: 

Communication is key.  Finding effective, consistent, and clear ways to
communicate between schools and community organizations is
essential to building strong partnerships

There was interest in the creation of a community conections calendar
to share network updates, so schools/partners can easily see what
programs and opportunities are available seasonally or each month  

Opportunities for Lunch & Learns about organizations 

Storytelling as an important way to engage 

Advocacy for alternative schooling opportunities 

Advocacy for collaboration to support youth needs in school settings 

Collaborative addictions awareness education 

Collaborative sports program(s)

Page 131 of 198



“The Tłı̨chǫ  name for Yellowknife is Sombak'e
meaning place of money.” 

Source: 
https://www.ntlegislativeassembly.ca/capital-area-park

Group Brainstorm

Funding Opportunities:

City of Yellowknife Grants
CUSO International 
Canadian Womens Foundation 
McConnell Foundation 
Suicide Prevention Fund
Videa
Take a Kid Trapping Fund 
NWT Arts Council 
Hotıì ts’eeda
Tamarack Institute’s Community Innovation Fund through the Youth
Employment and Skills Program 
Indigenous Youth Roots 
On the Land Collaborative 
NWT Recreation and Parks Association grants 
Canada Race Relations Foundation 
Kindred Foundation 
GNWT’s Anti Poverty Fund
GNWT’s Healthy Choices Fund
Make Way
United Way

Page 132 of 198



Wrap-Up :

Mashi cho to YK1 for hosting this engaging gathering and facilitating many
meaningful activities and discussions.  In addition, thank you for the
beautiful books that you shared.  

Next Steps:

Community Partners interested in helping to showcase the Network at the
upcoming Craft Sale at Mildred Hall School on November 8  and 9  can
reach out to Christina Moore at upip@topfc.com 

th th

Reflection Question:

Please take a moment to think about what kind of impact the Hazhǫ  Ełexè
Łets’eèzhe has on you.  We will take a moment at the next gathering to share
your thoughts.  

Page 133 of 198



Upcoming Gatherings

 Friday, November 21, 2025
 9:30 a.m. – 11:30 a.m.
 Home Base Youth Centre (4903 50th St.)

 Friday, December 12, 2025
 10:30 a.m. – 1:00 p.m.
 Upstairs Meeting Room at the Multiplex
Followed by Public Skate: 12:00 – 1:00 p.m.

 Friday, January 16, 2026
 1:00p.m. – 4:00 p.m.
MakerSpace YK (5001 Forrest Dr. Unit 101)

Page 134 of 198



Form updated: October 2025 

 

 BOARD REPORT 

Title: Monthly Report – Assistant Superintendent – Curriculum & Learning 

Contact: Graham Arts, Assistant Superintendent 

Date Submitted: November 6, 2025 

Mandate ● Cultivate a culture of holistic wellness 

● Honour and celebrate Indigenous Language and Culture for all 
learners 

● Ensure inclusive, equitable and authentic learning experiences  

● Foster critical understanding of local, national and global issues 

Background ● This report summarizes the activities for the Education Services 
department, and discusses various additional projects and initiatives 
with the intention to keep Trustees informed and up-to-date. 

Information ● All schools have completed their improvement goals in draft form as 
of November 3rd, and the plans are under review. The timelines for 
the improvement plans were identical to the Safe and Caring Schools 
Plans. Schools were required to put the emphasis on the ECE plans. 
As such, the review of the improvement plans will be completed in 
time for a full report to the Board of Trustees in December. 

● All Safe and Caring Schools plans for YK1 have been submitted to 
ECE. As requested at the October Board of Trustees meeting, the 
new template the District is required to use is attached to this 
report. 

● Phone Project – A delay to the project start time was necessitated by 
the need to order upgraded switches for the system. The new start 
date for the first round of installations (the District Office) is 
November 17th with work wrapping up at the office on the 21st. 

● Homeschooler Grant – The final grant for 2025-2026 is $4000 per 
student. District staff is working with ECE to confirm the amount of 
funding that the District is required to transfer to homeschool 
families to respect the regulation dating back to 1996. This study will 
inform decisions related to the funding allocations for the 2026-2027 
School Year. The 1996 Directive is attached to this report. 

Page 135 of 198



Form updated: October 2025 

Recommendations  

Attachments? 

 
 

__X__ Yes 

Monthly Education Services Report 

Safe and Caring Schools Plan Template (implemented by ECE for 2025-2026 

1996 Homeschooling Directive 

 

Page 136 of 198



​Board Report​
​November 6, 2025​

​Assistant Superintendent for Curriculum and Learning Report​

​Wellness​

​Cultivate a culture of holistic​
​wellness​

​1.1 Recognize the importance of​
​relationships in learning​
​1.2 Foster and promote personal​
​wellness​
​1.3 Create healthy, safe and​
​caring learning environments​

​Indigenous Language &​

​Education​
​Honour and celebrate​

​Indigenous Language and​
​Culture for all learners​

​2.1 Create a welcoming​
​environment for all learners​
​2.2 Integrate an Indigenous​
​approach to education​
​2.3 Strengthen Indigenous​
​Language Instruction​

​Learning​
​Ensure inclusive, equitable and​

​authentic learning​
​Experiences​

​3.1 Engage learners through​
​meaningful and innovative​
​teaching and learning practices​
​3.2 Strive for excellence​
​3.3 Celebrate diversity of all​
​learners​

​Community​
​Foster critical understanding of​
​local, national and global issues​

​4.1 Inspire critical thinking through​
​innovation and pursue sustainable​
​practices​
​4.2 Embrace diversity and​
​encourage empathy to promote​
​global citizenship​
​4.3 Model and encourage ethical​
​leadership and engage in​
​opportunities for service learning​

​Education​
​Services​
​Updates​

​November 3: Training​
​provided to SBSTs (admin,​
​PSTs, and EAs) in Crisis​
​Intervention​

​RISCs continue to support​
​schools in planning for​
​students.​

​November 3: EA PD included​
​a session block on personal​
​wellness/self-care with choice​
​activities for EAs to participate​
​in.​

​Mary Jane Drygeese worked​
​with students at SJF in the​
​Language class around making​
​dry-meat!​

​Beatrice Sangris joined the​
​language class at MHS to​
​assist as a language speaker in​
​recording voice notes for​
​students to list to​

​SJF language classes were​
​gifted an entire caribou from​
​ECC. Together as a class they​
​harvested the meat.​

​Grade 8-10 students at WMS,​
​RLN, SJF and KTW had the​
​opportunity to hear Kendal​
​Netmaker speak as a keynote.​

​District’s French Reading​
​Assessment was carried out in​
​grades 6-8 French immersion​
​classrooms throughout the​
​month of October.​

​4 teachers took part in​
​Neurolinguistic Approach​
​Training (part 2) with David​
​Macfarlane, October 14/15​

​4 teachers took part in Oral​
​Proficiency Indicator Training​
​for French with David​
​Macfarlane, Oct 16/17​

​RILE attended cultural safety​
​professional development for 2​
​days​

​SWIS/NWT Literacy Council​
​committee held their first​
​quarterly meeting of the 25-26​
​school year on October 22,​
​which YK1 attended as a​
​committee member​

​Recruitment at job fair in​
​Montreal October 8 and 9. YK1​
​needs to hire four teachers for​
​upcoming parental leaves in​
​French immersion alone this​
​year​

​Meetings between YCS and​
​YK1 to plan applications for​
​federal ImmersART funding for​
​cultural activities in 7-12 French​
​immersion classes. We applied​

Page 137 of 198



​Cailey Mercredi worked with​
​students in the ?Ori program to​
​prepare fish​

​NJM welcomed a full time​
​language instructor to staff -​
​Ms. Lena Moosenose. Lena will​
​be teaching language 2 days​
​per week, and sharing cultural​
​teachings/ language integration​
​the other 3 days.​

​Cailey Mercredi will be working​
​with students at ?Ori program​
​to prepare harvested rabbits​

​RILE met with ECE to discuss​
​indigenous languages month.​
​This year's theme will be​
​#language works, an initiative​
​to focus on language​
​champions, as well as highlight​
​individuals using indigenous​
​Languages in their careers.​

​Cailey Mercredi will be making​
​moose stew with students at EI​

​Nov 3: All EAs attended​
​professional development in the​
​following areas:​​Safe​
​Management Group’s Crisis​
​Intervention Training,​
​Approaches for Purposeful​
​Support in the Numeracy​
​Classroom, Supporting​
​Regulation through Sensory​
​Strategies in the Classroom,​
​Understanding & Supporting​
​Behaviour, Vagus Nerve Reset​
​& Breathwork for Regulation,​
​Small-Group Q&A on​
​Regulation & Behaviour​
​Strategies & Q&A on​
​Trauma-Informed & Somatic​
​Practices.​

​October 14: PST JK/K Cohort:​
​Working group to support​
​playbased learning in the jk/k​
​classrooms.​

​October 29: PST IEP Cohort​
​Group.  Developing a process​
​for collecting evidence for​
​assessment.​

​for and received this funding for​
​activities last year.​

Page 138 of 198



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Safe and Caring Schools 

Safe Schools and Emergency Response 
Plans 
2025-2026 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 139 of 198



2 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

PART A: SAFE SCHOOL PLAN .............................................................................. 3 

I. School Information .......................................................................................................................... 3 

II. Safe and Caring School Philosophy .................................................................................................. 3 

III. Safe and Caring School Committee  ................................................................................................. 4 

IV. Policies and Guidelines  ................................................................................................................... 5 

V. Prevention, Intervention and Education Strategies   ....................................................................... 6 

PART B: EMERGENCY RESPONSE PLAN ............................................................... 9 
I. Emergency Response Plan .............................................................................................................. 9 

II. Individual/Personal Emergency Response Plan ............................................................................... 9 

III. Community Level Emergency Planning .......................................................................................... 10 

PART C: REVIEW AND APPROVAL CHECKLIST .................................................... 11 

PART D: ECE ..................................................................................................... 14 

I. ECE Confirmation of Receipt ......................................................................................................... 14 

II. ECE Feedback ................................................................................................................................. 14 

III. ECE Feedback Notification ............................................................................................................. 17 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 140 of 198



3 
 

PART A: SAFE SCHOOL PLAN 

I. School Information 

Each school must submit a Safe School Plan. This plan is to be completed in conjunction with the Safe 
Schools Regulations under the Education Act of the Northwest Territories. 
 

School Name:

 
 

School Year: 

 

Region:

 
 

Community:

 

Principal:

 
 

Superintendent: 

 
 

 
Instructions for Superintendents and Principals  
Phase 1 – Education Body Superintendents must: 

a. Oversee all Safe School Plans for each school in the region 
b. Set the deadline for all principals to submit Safe School Plans 
c. Ensure all corresponding policies and guidelines are up-to-date and follow the NWT Education 

Act, Territorial School Code of Conduct, and Safe Schools Regulations 
d. Ensure the schools establish and maintain a Safe and Caring Schools Committee 

Phase 2 – Principals, with the Safe and Caring School Committee, must:  
a. Review, revise and complete the Safe Schools Plan. 
b. Attach all corresponding education body policy/guidelines and School policy/guidelines 
c. Attach school Emergency Response Plan 
d. Submit the completed document to Superintendents for review and approval 

Phase 3 – Superintendents must: 
a. Review and approve all Safe School Plans in the region 
b. Submit Safe School Plans to the Department of Education, Culture and Employment by 

October 31st (or next working day) 
c. Ensure schools are implementing their plans 

	

II. Safe and Caring School Philosophy 
	

What is your school-wide approach to maintaining a safe and caring school? 
Safe and Caring School Philosophy 
 
 
 
 

 
School Philosophy Statement Review 

Page 141 of 198



4 
 

Choose an item. Reviewed. No change from previous year. 

Choose an item. Reviewed. Updated for new school year. 

 
III. Safe and Caring School Committee   

 
Safe School Regulations (2016) 2.(2) A Safe and Caring School Committee must include the following 
members: (a) the principal of the school; (2) a teacher representative from the school. 2.(3) A Safe and 
Caring School Committee may include any other members the school considers appropriate, including 
the following: (a) a parent representative whose child attend the school; (b) a member of the 
community other than a principal, teacher or parent of a student.   

 
It is wise practice to have an ILE member and/or a GSA Advisor on the Safe and Caring School 
Committee to ensure diversity among membership. The Safe and Caring School Committee may overlap 
with the Occupational Health and Safety Committee as long as requirements of both Committees are 
met. 

Position Name Actively Participated in 
Plan Development 

Principal	 	 Choose an item.	

Teacher	 	 Choose an item.	

Choose One	 	 Choose an item.	

Choose One	 	 Choose an item.	

Choose One	 	 Choose an item.	

Choose One	 	 Choose an item.	

Choose One	 	 Choose an item.	

 

Safe and Caring School Committee 
Choose an item. The Safe Schools Plan has been completed with collaboration from the Safe and 

Caring School Committee. 
Choose an item. The Safe and Caring School Committee collaborated with external agencies 

and/or service providers in the development and/or review of the Safe Schools 
Plan.  

 
 
 
 

Page 142 of 198



5 
 

 
 

IV. Policies and Guidelines 	 	 	 	 	 	                   
 

Safe School Regulations (2016) 2.(4)  A safe schools plan must include polices and guidelines (a) the 
reporting, by students, parents, guardians and other persons, of incidents of bullying; (b) the 
documentation, by the school and the education body , of incidents of bullying; and (c) a timely and 
appropriate response by the school and the education body to incidents of bullying. 

 
District Education Authorities, Divisional Education Councils, the Tłıc̨hǫ Community Services Agency, and 
Commission Scolaire Francophone Territories Du Nord-Ouest, as Education Bodies, may develop 
overarching policies for all schools within their region.  Schools will develop policies which are specific to 
their school. 

 
REPORTING, DOCUMENTING, AND RESPONDING TO INCIDENTS OF BULLYING 
 
List all policies, guidelines, forms and reporting mechanisms with respect to the: 

(a) reporting, by students, parents, guardians, and other persons, of incidents of bullying; 
(b) documentation, by the school and the education body, of incidents of bullying; and, 
(c) response, by the school and the education body to incidents of bullying  

 
Add rows as needed. 

EDUCATION BODY POLICY/GUIDELINES APPENDIX NO. 
  
  
  
  
  
SCHOOL POLICY/GUIDELINES APPENDIX NO. 
  
  
  
  
  

 
 
Indicate if the following information is included in your education body and/or school bullying policies:  

Choose an item. Definition of bullying as per the Education Act 

Choose an item. Definition of cyber-bullying as per the Education Act 

Choose an item. Anonymous reporting mechanism for all members of the school community 

Page 143 of 198



6 
 

Choose an item. Bullying incident report template 

 
 

V. Prevention, Intervention and Education Strategies  	                   

 
Please read before completing the Prevention, Intervention and Education Strategies Section:  
 
1) An evidence-based program is based on rigorous research that demonstrates the effectiveness of a 
program. Indicate if the listed bullying prevention, intervention and education strategy integrates 
evidence-based healthy relationship programming into the curriculum and daily classroom activities. 
Include the grade level for each program. 
 
2) Indicate if the bullying prevention, intervention, and education strategy targets the entire learning 
community, including students, parents, school staff and community members. 
 
3) Indicate if the listed bullying prevention, intervention and education strategy addresses a specific 
issue identified by your school. Describe the issue that is being addressed. 
 
4) Indicate if the bullying prevention, intervention, and education strategy targets the entire learning 
community, including students, parents, school staff and community members. 
 
Add strategy tables as needed.  

STRATEGY #1:  
Strategy: 
 
Choose an item. Integrates evidence-based healthy relationships programming 

into the school curriculum and daily classroom activities. 

Grade Levels:  

Choose an item.	 Targets the entire learning community, including students, 
parents, school staff and community members.  

	
Choose an item.	

Addresses specific issues identified by individual schools. 
 
 
 Issue Addressed:   

Safe School Regulations (2016) 2.(5) A safe schools plan must include bullying prevention, intervention 
and education strategies that (a) integrate evidence-based healthy relationships programming into 
the school curriculum and daily classroom activities; (b) target the entire learning community, 
including students, parents, school staff and community members; (c) address specific issues identifies 
by individual schools; (d) provide student with the skills and confidence to resolve conflict in a non-
violent way; and (e) teach students safe intervention and proactive reporting skills.  

Page 144 of 198



7 
 

Choose an item.	
	

Provides students with the skills and confidence to resolve 
conflict in a non-violent way. 

Choose an item.	
	

Teaches students safe intervention and proactive reporting 
skills. 

 

STRATEGY #2:  
Strategy: 
 
Choose an item. Integrates evidence-based healthy relationships programming 

into the school curriculum and daily classroom activities. 
 
 
 

Grade Levels:  

Choose an item.	 Targets the entire learning community, including students, 
parents, school staff and community members.  

	
Choose an item.	

Addresses specific issues identified by individual schools. 
 
 
 Issue Addressed:   

Choose an item.	
	

Provides students with the skills and confidence to resolve 
conflict in a non-violent way. 

Choose an item.	
	

Teaches students safe intervention and proactive reporting 
skills. 

 

STRATEGY #3:  
Strategy: 
 
Choose an item. Integrates evidence-based healthy relationships programming 

into the school curriculum and daily classroom activities. 
 
 
 

Grade Levels:  

Choose an item.	 Targets the entire learning community, including students, 
parents, school staff and community members.  

	
Choose an item.	

Addresses specific issues identified by individual schools. 
 
 
 Issue Addressed:  

Choose an item.	
	

Provides students with the skills and confidence to resolve 
conflict in a non-violent way. 

Choose an item.	
	

Teaches students safe intervention and proactive reporting 
skills. 

 

Page 145 of 198



8 
 

 

 

 

STRATEGY #4:  
Strategy: 
 
Choose an item. Integrates evidence-based healthy relationships programming 

into the school curriculum and daily classroom activities. 
 
 
 

Grade Levels:  

Choose an item.	 Targets the entire learning community, including students, 
parents, school staff and community members.  

	
Choose an item.	

Addresses specific issues identified by individual schools. 
 
 
 Issue Addressed: 

Choose an item.	
	

Provides students with the skills and confidence to resolve 
conflict in a non-violent way. 

Choose an item.	
	

Teaches students safe intervention and proactive reporting 
skills. 

 

STRATEGY #5:  
Strategy: 
 
Choose an item. Integrates evidence-based healthy relationships programming 

into the school curriculum and daily classroom activities. 

Grade Levels:  

Choose an item.	 Targets the entire learning community, including students, 
parents, school staff and community members.  

	
Choose an item.	

Addresses specific issues identified by individual schools. 
 
 
 Issue Addressed:  

Choose an item.	
	

Provides students with the skills and confidence to resolve 
conflict in a non-violent way. 

Choose an item.	
	

Teaches students safe intervention and proactive reporting 
skills. 

 

Page 146 of 198



9 
 

 
 
 

PART B: EMERGENCY RESPONSE PLAN 
 

Safe School Regulations (2016) 2.(6) A safe schools plan must include a requirement that each school 
develop an emergency response plan that addresses, but is not limited to, evacuation and lockdown 
procedures. 

 

I. Emergency Response Plan 
 
Attach a copy of the school’s emergency response plan. Ensure the emergency response plan includes 
evacuation and lockdown procedures, including coordinated responses for these situations when they 
are initiated as part of a community-wide response.  

EMERGENCY RESPONSE PLAN 
Choose an item. I have included (attached) a copy of the School Emergency Response Plan. 

 

Choose an item. The Emergency Response Plan includes evacuation and lockdown procedures.   

 
 

II. Individual/Personal Emergency Response Plan 
 

Indicate all that apply. Add additional notes, if needed.  
SPECIAL CONSIDERATIONS 
Individual/Personal emergency response plans have been created and filed for the following: 

Choose an 
item. 

Students: 

 
Choose an 
item. 

Staff: 

 
Choose an 
item. 

Other:

 
Choose an 
item. 

Not Applicable:

 
Notes: 
 
 

 
 
 

!

Page 147 of 198



10 
 

 
 

III. Community Level Emergency Planning 
 

School administration is expected to meet annually with Local Emergency Management Organizations 
(LEMOs) and/or Regional Emergency Management Organizations (REMOs) to identity the role of the 
school in the Community Emergency Response Plan.  
 

Community Emergency Response Plan 
School administration has met with LEMO/REMO and 
understands the role the school in case of a community 
level emergency.  
 

Choose an item. Date (yyyy/mm/dd): 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 148 of 198



11 
 

 

PART C: REVIEW AND APPROVAL CHECKLIST 
 

Complete the following sections in blue. This is section is a check list of items included in the Safe 
Schools Plan as per the Education Act and Safe and Caring Schools Regulations.  

 Principal 
Review 

Superintendent 
Review 

Safe and Caring School Philosophy 
The Plan includes a description of your school-wide Safe and 
Caring School Philosophy. 

Choose an item. Choose an item. 

Principal Comments: 
 
 
Superintendent Comments:  
 
 
Safe and Caring School Committee 
The Plan identified the following committee members: 

 
• Principal (Mandatory as per Safe Schools Regulations) 

 
Choose an item. Choose an item. 

• Teacher (Mandatory as per Safe Schools Regulations) 
 

Choose an item.	 Choose an item.	

• Genders and Sexualities Alliance (GSA) Advisor 
 

Choose an item.	 Choose an item.	

• Indigenous Language and Education (ILE) Team 
Member 

 

Choose an item.	 Choose an item.	

• Other: 
  

Choose an item.	 Choose an item.	

There is indication that the Safe and Caring School Committee 
completed the Safe Schools Plan collaboratively. 
 

Choose an item. Choose an item. 

There is indication that the Safe and Caring School Committee 
collaborated with external agencies and service providers in the 
development and/or review of the Safe Schools Plan.  
 

Choose an item. Choose an item. 

Principal Comments: 
 
 
Superintendent Comments:  
 
 
Policies and Guidelines – Bullying 
Includes a definition of bullying as per the Education Act. 
 

Choose an item. Choose an item. 

Page 149 of 198



12 
 

Plan is aligned with Act, regulations, and education body 
policies and guidelines.  
 

Choose an item. Choose an item. 

Plan includes a reporting mechanism for:  
• Students 
• Parents/Guardians 
• Others 
 

Choose an item. Choose an item. 

Plan includes an anonymous reporting mechanism for all 
members of the school community. 
 

Choose an item. Choose an item. 

Plan includes how incidents of bullying will be documented by 
staff/principal.  
 

Choose an item. Choose an item. 

A bullying incident report has been created, documented, filed, 
and included with the plan.  
 

Choose an item. Choose an item. 

Relevant education body policies and guidelines are attached.  
 

Choose an item. Choose an item. 

Procedures indicating how staff will respond to incidents of 
bullying are included.  
 

Choose an item. Choose an item. 

Procedures indicating how the principal will respond to 
incidents of bullying reported by a student, staff member, 
parent/guardian or community member are included.   
 

Choose an item. Choose an item. 

The Plan includes a range of responses to bullying depending 
on the unique characteristics of the situation and any 
mitigating factors.  
 

Choose an item. Choose an item. 

Principal Comments: 
 
 
Superintendent Comments: 
 
 
Bullying Prevention, Intervention and Education Strategies 
The Plan identifies evidence-based healthy relationships 
programs that are being implemented.  
 

Choose an item. Choose an item. 

The Plan identifies strategies being implemented that target 
the entire community including parents, students, school staff 
and community members.  
 

Choose an item. Choose an item. 

The Plan identifies strategies being implemented that address 
school-specific issues.  
 

Choose an item. Choose an item. 

Page 150 of 198



13 
 

The Plan identifies strategies being implemented that teach 
students safe intervention and proactive reporting skills and 
confidence needed to resolve conflict in a non-violent way.  
 
 

Choose an item. Choose an item. 

Principal Comments: 
 
 
Superintendent Comments: 
 
 
 
Emergency Response 
School emergency response plan has been included. 
 

Choose an item. Choose an item. 

Individual / Personal emergency plans have been completed, if 
applicable.  
 

Choose an item. Choose an item. 

Principal Comments:  
 
 
Superintendent Comments:  
 
 

 

Principal and Superintendent Approval 

This Safe Schools Plan has been reviewed and approved by the 
principal. The plan is ready for Superintendent Review. 

Date of approval (yyyy/mm/dd):  

 

This plan has been reviewed and approved by the 
Superintendent / Education Body.  
 
As Superintendent, by approving this Safe School Plan, I verify 
this plan meets the requirements of the NT Safe Schools 
Regulations and Education Act, Section 34.1 
 

Date of approval (yyyy/mm/dd): 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 151 of 198



14 
 

PART D: ECE  
 

I. ECE Confirmation of Receipt 
 

ECE Received 

ECE confirms the Safe School Plan has been received. Date (yyyy/mm/dd):   

 

 
II. ECE Feedback 

All plans will be reviewed to ensure they meet GNWT Safe School Regulations requirements. Schools will 
receive feedback from ECE on a rotational  year cycle according to the following district grouping:  

Group 1 – TCSA, YK1, YCS, DDEA, NDEA  
Group 2 – BDEC, SSDEC 
Group 3 – CSFTNO, DDEC, SDEC 
 

Three-year feedback cycle 

School Year Region / District 

2020 - 2021 Group 2 - BDEC, SSDEC 

2021 - 2022 Group 3 - CSFTNO, DDEC, SDEC 

2022 - 2023 Group 1 - TCSA, YK1, YCS, DDEA, NDEA 

2023 - 2024 Group 2 - BDEC, SSDEC 

2024 - 2025  Group 3 - CSFTNO, DDEC, SDEC 

2025 - 2026 Group 1 - TCSA, YK1, YCS, DDEA, NDEA 

2026 - 2027  Group 2 - BDEC, SSDEC 

2027 - 2028 Group 3 - CSFTNO, DDEC, SDEC 

2028 - 2029 Group 1 - TCSA, YK1, YCS, DDEA, NDEA 

2029 - 2030 Group 2 - BDEC, SSDEC 

2030 - 2031 Group 3 - CSFTNO, DDEC, SDEC 

2031 - 2032 Group 1 - TCSA, YK1, YCS, DDEA, NDEA 
 

Feedback 
Choose an item. Feedback not required this year. 

 
Choose an item. Feedback required this year. 

Page 152 of 198



15 
 

Safe and Caring School Philosophy 
Comments: 
 
 
 
 

 

Safe and Caring School Committee 
The Plan identified the following committee members:  

• Principal 
 

Choose an item. 

• Teacher 
 

Choose an item. 

• Genders and Sexualities Alliance (GSA) Advisor 
 

Choose an item. 

• Indigenous Language and Education (ILE) Team Member 
 

Choose an item. 

• Other: 
 

Choose an item. 

There is indication that the Safe and Caring School Committee completed 
the plan collaboratively. 
 

Choose an item. 

There is indication that the Safe and Caring School Committee collaborated 
with external agencies and service providers. 
 

Choose an item. 

Comments: 
 
 
 
Policies and Guidelines – Bullying 
Includes a definition of bullying as per the Education Act. 

 
Choose an item. 

Plan is aligned with current legislation and education body policies and 
guidelines. 
 

Choose an item. 

Plan includes a reporting mechanism for:   
• Students 

 
Choose an item. 

• Parents/Guardians 
 

Choose an item. 

• Others:  
 

Choose an item. 

Plan includes an anonymous reporting mechanism for all members of the 
school community. 

Choose an item. 

Plan includes how incidents of bullying will be documented by 
staff/principal. 

  

Choose an item. 

A bullying incident report has been created, documented, filed, and included 
with the plan.  

Choose an item. 

Page 153 of 198



16 
 

Relevant education body policies and guidelines are attached.  
 

Choose an item. 

Procedures indicating how staff will respond to incidents of bullying are 
included.  

Choose an item. 

Procedures indicating how the principal will respond to incidents of bullying 
reported by a student, staff member, parent/guardian or community 
member are included.   

Choose an item. 

The Plan includes a range of responses to bullying depending on the unique 
characteristics of the situation and any mitigating factors.  

Choose an item. 

Comments: 
 
 
 
 
Bullying Prevention, Intervention and Education Strategies 
The Plan identifies evidence-based healthy relationships programs that are 
being implemented.  

Choose an item. 

The Plan identifies strategies being implemented that target the entire 
community including parents, students, school staff and community 
members.  

Choose an item. 

The Plan identifies strategies being implemented that address school-
specific issues.  

Choose an item. 

The Plan identifies strategies being implemented that teach students safe 
intervention and proactive reporting skills and confidence needed to resolve 
conflict in a non-violent way.  

Choose an item. 

Comments: 
 
 
 
 
Emergency Response 
School emergency response plan has been included. 
 

Choose an item. 

Individual / Personal emergency plans have been completed and filed, if 
applicable.  

Choose an item. 

Comments: 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 154 of 198



17 
 

III. ECE Feedback Notification 
 

Submit Feedback 

The Superintendent has been notified that feedback has been 
provided.  

Date (yyyy/mm/dd): 

 

 

 
 
  
 
 

Page 155 of 198



Home Schooling Directive 

1996 

Page 156 of 198



Table of Contents 

Education Act and Regulations 

Rationale for this Directive 

Procedures: 

2 

2 

Support 3 

Duties of Superintendent's Designate and Principal 4 

Superintendent's Duties . 5 

District Education Authority's Decisions and the Right of Appeal 6 

Registration and Funding . 7 

Reimbursement of Programs Costs 8 

Part Time Students . 9 

1 

Page 157 of 198



Home Schooling Directive 

Education Act and Regulations: 

The new Education Act was passed in June of 1995, and came 
into force July 1, 1996. It recognizes home schooling as one of 
the ways in which parents may choose to access the education 
program for their children. The other choices a parent may make 
are a public school, or, where they exist, a public 
denominational school or a private school. The Home 
Schooling Regulations detail the responsibilities of parents, 
principals, designates of the Superintendent, the 
Superintendent, and the District Education Authority in relation 
to Home Schooling. 

Rationale for this Directive: 

As mentioned in the regulations, parents have the primary 
responsibility for the education of their children in a home 
schooling program. The purpose of the registration and 
monitoring of students by the principal or Superintendent's 
designate is twofold. First, it allows the provision of support to 
the home schooling program. Second, it ensures that the home 
schooled student has access to an education program, as 
required by section 5 of the Education Act. 

It is not the responsibility of the principal or Superintendent's 
designate to ensure that the home schooling program meets 
curriculum standards, or to evaluate the way the home schooling 
program is carried out. The responsibility of the principal or 
Superintendent's designate is to ensure the student is making 
progress in the program, and support the home schooling 
program wherever possible, as agreed upon with the parent. 

In addition to the information contained in the Home Schooling 
Regulations, this directive provides direction with regard to 
funding, and provision of support to home schoolers. District 
Education Authorities and Divisional Educational Councils may 
also wish to develop policies providing more detailed guidelines 
for home schooling support services and reimbursement of 
program costs. 

2 • 

Page 158 of 198



Procedures: 

Support 
Support to a home schooling program will depend upon what 
support the parent requests. For example, it might involve 
access to the school facilities, use of materials or resources, or 
assistance with assessment. Such requests should be 
accommodated by the principal or Superintendent's designate 
to whatever extent is possible, given the needs of the other 
students in the school. For instance, access to school facilities 
such as the gymnasium, library, computer room and science 
labs might be accommodated after school hours. 

3 

Page 159 of 198



Duties of Superintendent's 
Designate and Principal 

The Home Schooling Regulations list various duties that a 
principal has toward a home schooling program. Some 
divisions may decide that they wish to have one person in the 
division designated to perform these duties with regard to home 
schooling programs in the division. Subsection 4(5) of the 
Home Schooling Regulations allows the Superintendent to 
designate a person other than the principal to perform all of the 
duties and powers of the principal listed in section 4 of the 
Regulations, with the exception of providing access to school 
facilities and support to parents providing home schooling. 
These duties still rest with the principal. 

The monitoring, assessment and reporting duties can be 
undertaken by the designate or the principal. The regulations 
require the principal (or designate) to agree with the parent on a 
form of assessment that is consistent with the home schooling 
program the parent has chosen. So, for instance, the parent 
may wish to keep a portfolio of work completed by the student for 
the purpose of assessment. Alternatively, the parent may wish to 
present tests completed by the student. Again, the parent may 
wish some combination of these, or may wish to include some 
observation of the student during work by the principal or 
designate. Any form of assessment that will show the student's 
progress in the education program, and that is agreed upon by 
the principal or designate and the parent is acceptable. 

If in the principal's opinion the student is not making adequate 
progress, or if at anytime the parent asks for assistance in 
altering the program, the principal or designate can make 
suggestions for change that would improve the program, or 
assist the student's progress. 

If after making attempts to change the program and assist the 
home schooling parent, the principal or designate is still 
concerned that the student is not making reasonable progress in 
the home schooling program, the principal or 
designate should report these concerns to the Superintendent 
and ask for an investigation of the home schooling program. 

4 • 

Page 160 of 198



Superintendent's Duties 

The regulations state the Superintendent's duties, which include 
reviewing the reports and recommendations provided by a 
principal or Superintendent's designate. Where the principal or 
designate recommends termination of a home schooling 
program, the Superintendent will investigate the 
recommendation by interviewing the parents providing the 
program, and by reviewing the relevant material. The 
Superintendent will then recommend in writing to the District 
Education Authority, the principal (or designate) and the parent, 
whether the home schooling program should continue, continue 
with suggested changes, or be terminated. 

5 

Page 161 of 198



District Education Authority's 
Decisions and the Right of Appeal 

Once a Superintendent has made a recommendation to a 
District Education Authority regarding a home schooling 
program, the District Education Authority must make a decision 
whether the home schooling program should continue, continue 
with changes, or be tenninated. If the home schooling program 
is tenninated, the District Education Authority must ensure the 
student has access to the education program, most usually 
through attendance at school. 

The parent of the home schooled student may appeal a decision 
of the District Education Authority to alter or terminate the home 
schooling program. The Education Appeal Regulations would 
apply to such an appeal. 

6 

Page 162 of 198



• 

Registration and Funding 

As noted in the regulations, home schooled students are to be 
registered with a school in the district in which they are living. 
These students should be noted as home schooled students on 
a central school register, and attendance should not be kept for 
them. (Please note attendance for part time students identified 
below.) Principals, District Education Authorities, and Divisional 
Education Councils should include all home schooled students, 
identified as such, on all attendance information submitted to the 
Department. A home schooled student will be counted as .5 
(50%) of a full time equivalent student (FTE) for the purposes of 
funding. One half of this amount (25% of an FTE) should be 
reserved to reimburse the parent's program costs . 

7 

Page 163 of 198



Reimbursement of Program Costs 

The Home Schooling Regulations state that a District Education 
Authority shall, in accordance with the directions of the Minister, 
provide funding to a parent for program costs related to the 
delivery of home schooling. 

Parents should provide receipts to the District Education 
Authority for program costs, such as course costs, materials, 
curriculum costs, and so on. Items such as salary or capital 
expenditures (house renovations, computer hardware, etc.) are 
not considered program costs. The Divisional Education 
Council, at the direction of the District Education Authority, or the 
District Education Authority if they hold the funds, will reimburse 
the parent up to 25% of the full time equivalent amount that they 
receive for educating a student in their jurisdiction, for receipted 
program costs. 

If they wish, the District Education Authority may make particular 
payment arrangements. For instance, they may want to 
reimburse the parents in two payments, one in the fall term and 
one in the spring. In this way, if the student returns to attending 
the school program part way through the year, some of the 
funding will still remain available to the school. 

8 

• 

• 

Page 164 of 198



Part Time Students 

If a home schooling parent wishes to have their child attend 
school part time, and if the principal is in agreement, the 
principal may allow the student to do so. The home schooled 
student has no entitlement to attend school part time, however, 
this is up to the principal to decide, considering the needs of all 
the students in the school. 

In the case of students who attend school on a part time basis, 
the student should be noted on the central school register as a 
part time student if they attend more than 50% of the time at 
school. If the student attends 50% or less of the time at school, 
the student should be registered as a home schooled student. In 
either case, the student should also be registered with a 
particular class, and attendance should be kept for them for the 
portion of the day they are attending the school. 

Home schooled students will be counted as .5 (50%) of a full 
time equivalent student if they are attending less than half time at 
the school, and part time students will be counted as a full time 
equivalent student if they are attending half time or more at the 
school. The percentage of time should be counted on the basis 
of the percentage of instructional hours the student is to attend 
per week. 

The District Education Authority can by policy decide how much 
(to a maximum of 25%) of the full time equivalent amount for 
students who attend some programs at the school will be 
available to reimburse the parent's program costs. The District 
Education Authority may wish to establish a policy that prorates 
the amount according to the amount of time the student is still 
receiving instruction at home. 

9 

Page 165 of 198



Page 166 of 198



 

 BOARD REPORT 

Title: Assistant Superintendent of HR and Learning Report 

Contact: Landon Kowalzik, Assistant Superintendent 

Date Submitted: November 5, 2025 

Mandate ●​ HR: To recruit, support and retain staff in order to provide 
students with the best possible opportunities and educating for 
life. 

●​ Learning: Providing students with the best possible opportunities 
and educating for life. 

Background ●​ As of October 7, 2025, we have 140 active substitute teachers 
and new subs continue to be added on a weekly basis. 

●​ Update on enrollment, as of November 3, 2025 complete. See 
attachment. 

●​ We are currently looking to fill 2 teacher positions for YK1, 1 
Assistant Principal Position for YK1, and 1 teacher position for 
K’alemi Dene School. 

●​ We are in the process of hiring Education Assistants through the 
Interim Support Assistant Initiative. 

 

Looking forward: 

 

●​ The Supervisor of Instruction-French Programming and the 
Principal of Ecole Itlo will be attending the Apply To Education 
K-12 Education Job Fair in Toronto on November 14, 2025 to help 
fill one current vacant French Immersion position and up to 2 
more positions. 

●​ The Assistant Superintendent of Human Resources and Learning 
will be attending the University of Lethbridge’s PSIII Launch day 
on December 5, 2025. 

●​ YK1 staff will be travelling in several universities in late January 
and early February as part of our annual teacher recruitment trip. 

 

Form updated: October 2025 

Page 167 of 198



Recommendations Accept as information 

Attachments? 

 
 

  X  Yes or      No   Enrolment report November 5, 2025 

 

Form updated: October 2025 

Page 168 of 198



Yellowknife Education District No. 1
Enrolment Report as of:  November 5, 2025

Totals

School JK K 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 Nov-25 Nov-24 Change

Mildred Hall 27 19 25 33 29 25 30 32 26 37 283 273 10

Ecole Itlo (French) 70 46 64 44 57 45 40 366 339 27

William McDonald (All) 130 95 103 328 323 5

N.J. Macpherson 45 41 47 47 48 42 62 332 362 -30

Range Lake North (All) 20 23 18 31 22 30 23 13 18 11 209 218 -9

Ecole Sir John Franklin 155 171 197 168 691 660 31

Totals 162 129 154 155 156 142 155 175 139 151 155 171 197 168 2209 2175 34

Yellowknife Education District No. 1
Monthly Enrolment Tracking 

FTE Totals
School Sep-25 Oct-25 Nov-25 Dec-25 Jan-26 Feb-26 Mar-26 Apr-26 May-26 Jun-26
Mildred Hall 301.00 286 283
Ecole Itlo 366.00 368 366
William McDonald 329.00 327 328
N.J. Macpherson 334.00 331 332
Range Lake North 206.00 209 209
Ecole Sir John Franklin 679.00 686 691
Totals 2215.00 2207.00 2209

Page 169 of 198



Form updated: October 2025 

 

 BOARD REPORT 

Title: November 12, 2025, Secretary Treasurer Report 

Contact: Lisa Vass, Secretary Treasurer 

Date Submitted: November 6, 2025 

Mandate ● Cultivate a culture of holistic wellness 

● Honour and celebrate Indigenous Language and Culture for all 

learners 

● Ensure inclusive, equitable and authentic learning experiences  

● Foster critical understanding of local, national and global issues 

Background ● The regular operations of the finance division continue. We are 

beginning to get caught up in benefits and payroll with the new 

person completing some much-needed critical work.  

● After reviewing past audit request for proposals (RFP), I am 

creating a new one. This has delayed the timeline by a couple of 

weeks. Once I have the new RFP completed, it will be uploaded 

to the GNWT and YK1 sites. 

● The senior leadership continues to work with Arctic Response on 

the YK1 OHS program. The confined space assessment will be 

scheduled for early in the new year. Arctic Response will begin 

planning for the assessment, program and training 

requirements. Other OH&S training will be prioritized based on 

risk and implemented in the coming months. 

Page 170 of 198



Form updated: October 2025 

Updates: ● Public Sector Accounting Board New Framework: A working 

group of comptrollers and GNWT finance staff will begin the 

process of reviewing the new framework and how it is to be 

implemented. Monthly meetings are scheduled to begin 

November 14, 2025. 

● Bussing review: I am still waiting for some final information from 

Transdev. Monthly meetings are now scheduled for the end of 

July 2026 with their finance and operations staff. This group will 

discuss operations and financial issues. 

 

Recommendations Received as information. 

Attachments? 

 
 

    Yes or  X    No    If yes, list attachments below 

 

Page 171 of 198



 

 

 

BOARD REPORT 
Title:  Director of Operations Board Report 

Contact:  Jordan Martin 

Date Submitted:  November 5, 2025 

Mandate: ● Ensure fitness, health and cleanliness of district facilities 

● Provide a safe learning environment for students and safe 

workplace for teaching staff 

Updates: • Lead remediation in WMS and NJ 

• New snow removal equipment 
 

Looking forward 
 

 
 

 

• Snow removal work orders created in MMS system 

• Discussion of fencing for all district properties 
 

Recommendations:  Accept report as presented 

 
 
 
 
 

 
  

Page 172 of 198



 

 

 

 
Our new snow removal equipment is currently being assembled. We may have delivery of the 
sub compact tractor by the end of November and the diesel utility vehicle by early December. 
New snow tires purchased last year have been installed on the Bobcat. First impressions of 
the ride quality have been favorable.  

  
Mildred Hall: 
Maintenance staff have been repairing, blocking off and adding gates to the fencing around Mildred   
Hall. There are several children that run towards the open entrances. This could be very dangerous 
given how close we are to downtown traffic. Some new fence gates have been ordered and will be 
installed when they arrive.  

We are awaiting updates from ECE on the roof repair project for the MPR room.  
 
William McDonald: 
The standard operating procedures (SOP’s) for William McDonald school lead filters has been 
approved by the Office of the Chief Public Health Officer (OCPHO). We will prioritize 
complying with the last remaining parts of the SOP’s and hopefully have the health order lifted 
by mid-month. Random day time water samples will be taken from all filtered water sources 
this month to track and confirm the filters remain effective.   

 
Itlo: 
Due to staff shortages the installation of the railing for the park stairs has been delayed. We hope to 
have them installed this month. 
A temporary set of barricades has been set up to keep smaller children from running out of the 
playground.  
  
NJ: 
We have been having difficulties with the national supplier of the filter system that was chosen for lead 
removal. We are currently waiting to find another filter option that meet the defined specifications from 
the department of Infrastructure. As soon as an adequate alternative is found, we will move forward 
with ordering and installation.  
 
RLN: 
A temporary barricade will be put in place as a fence for the winter to keep smaller students from 
running into traffic areas. 

 

Page 173 of 198



1. Call to Order
2. Land Acknowledgement

We respectfully acknowledge that we live, work, and learn on Chief Drygeese Territory 
in the Akaitcho region, the traditional territory of the Yellowknives Dene First Nation.

3. Adoption of Agenda

4. Approval of Minutes

4.1    October 14, 2025

5. Financial Administration Act and FAM regarding decision-making authority (Trustee 
Wasylciw)

6. Federal School Food Program (A.Supt. Kowalzik)

7. Report Cards (Trustee Wasylicw)

8. PowerSchool Breach (Trustee Wasylciw)

9. Date and Time of Next COW Meeting

December 8, 2025   12:10 PM Committee of the Whole (COW) Meeting 

10. Adjournment

YELLOWKNIFE EDUCATION DISTRICT NO. 1 
BOARD of TRUSTEES 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE 
MEETING AGENDA 

November 12, 2025 – 12:10 PM 
Meeting Link: https://meet.google.com/muz-rzvb-aiu 

 

Page 174 of 198

https://meet.google.com/wrx-rfaq-yyd


D R
 A

 F
 T

 

 YELLOWKNIFE EDUCATION DISTRICT NO. 1 
BOARD of TRUSTEES 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE 
MINUTES 

 

October 14, 2025 – 12:10 PM 
In-person and online via Google Meet 

 
Trustees Present:​ Allan Shortt, Barbara Bell, Michelle Peters,  

Terry Brookes (online) and Tina Drew. 

Regrets:​ ​ David Wasylciw, Jason Snaggs 

Administration 
Present:​ ​Shirley Zouboules, Lisa Vass, Graham Arts, Landon Kowlazik, Annie 

Pat Thagard and Annie Lagomasino 

Regrets:​ ​ none 

Meeting Chairperson:​ Trustee Shortt 

Meeting Recorder:​ ​ Pat Thagard 

1.​ Call to Order 

The meeting was called to order at 12:11 PM.   

2.​ Land Acknowledgement 

We respectfully acknowledge that we live, work and learn on Chief Drygeese Territory in 
the Akaitcho region, the traditional territory of the Yellowknives Dene First Nation. 

3.​ Adoption of Agenda 

Motion #: 01/10-14/25-26 

I move that the Yellowknife Education District No. 1 Board of Trustees adopt the 
October 14, 2025, Committee of the Whole (COW) Meeting agenda as amended. 

​ Moved by: Trustee Bell   ​ Seconded by: Trustee Wasylciw   ​ ​ Carried 

​ (amendments: change title of of 7.3 to Akaitcho Hall Land and remove item 7.4) 

4.​ Approval of Minutes 

Motion #: 02/10-14/25-26 

I move that the Yellowknife Education District No. 1 Board of Trustees approve the 
September 8, 2025, Committee of the Whole (COW) Meeting minutes, as presented. 

​ Moved by: Trustee Bell​    ​ Seconded by: Trustee Peters ​ Carried  

5.​ Strategic Plan (Trustee Bell) 

Documents related to the recent work on the Strategic Plan included in the agenda 
package are for review in preparation for the Board meeting. Once the Board documents 
related to the Strategic Priorities are approved, Administration will work with the 
consultant to develop measurable objectives. Trustees noted that truth & reconciliation 
is not expressly included in the document. Administration advised that the elements of 

Committee of the Whole Meeting - October 14, 2025 - DRAFT                                          Page 1 of 2 

Page 175 of 198



D R
 A

 F
 T

 
truth and reconciliation are included throughout the elements of the strategic plan.  The 
original overarching strategic priorities are still valid.  Measurables will be developed and 
brought to the Board for approval.  The definition used for “capable person” that is used 
by Administration and the Department of Education, Culture and Employment was 
developed by Dr. Angela James. Trustees agreed that, once approved, the updated 
Strategic Plan should be valid until 2027.  This  would allow the new Board elected in 
the fall of 2026 to have a year to work toward a new plan to take effect in the 
2027-2028 school year. 

6.​ Handover Documents (Trustee Bell) 

Some handover documents are still outstanding and will be added to the action items 
list. 

7.​ Correspondence 

Copies of correspondence were provided for review by trustees. 

7.1.​ Urgent Call for Immediate Retrofit for École William McDonald Middle School 

A response has been received. More discussion to follow at the Board meeting. 

7.2.​ Academic Year & School Attendance Regulations 

A response has not been received yet. 

7.3.​ Akaitcho Hall Land 

The YK1 response to the letter is due by October 17th.  A trustee suggested that 
although YK1 does not have funds to build, maybe an agreement could be 
reached with an organization interested in building on the land to incorporate a 
daycare into whatever they build. 

With regard to the presentation scheduled for the Board meeting, trustees would 
like to know how much of the land the Arts Centre group is interested in using. 

8.​ Date and Time of Next COW Meeting 

November 12, 2025  12:10 PM - Committee of the Whole (COW) Meeting 

9.​ Adjournment 

Motion #: 03/10-14/25-26 

I move that the Yellowknife Education District No. 1 Board of Trustees adjourn the 
October 14, 2025, COW meeting. 

​ Moved by: Trustee Wasylciw    ​ Seconded by: Trustee Peters ​ Carried 

​ Meeting adjourned at 12:48 PM 
 
 

Trustee Shortt, Chairperson Lisa Vass, Secretary Treasurer 
 

Committee of the Whole Meeting - October 14, 2025 - DRAFT                                          Page 2 of 2 

Page 176 of 198



 

 BOARD REPORT 
 

Title:  National School Food Funding Update Report 

Contact: Landon Kowlazik, Assistant Superintendent HR & Learning 

Date Submitted: November 6, 2025 

Mandate ●​ To provide the Board of Trustees with an update on how schools 
are using the Federal Food Funding to support students. 

Background Beginning on April 1, 2025, Yellowknife Education District No. 1 has been 
receiving funding through the National School Food Program. During the 
initial months of funding, schools used the money to purchase food to 
support the food programs they already had in operation and to 
purchase utensils and other small kitchen equipment to allow for more 
efficient meal/snack production.  
For the 2025/26 school year, a considerable amount of the funding for 
each school continues to go towards the purchase of food to ensure that 
enough food is available for all students to access. In five of the six YK1 
schools (all except for Ecole Itlo), funding is also being used to fund a part 
time employee to oversee the different food programs in each school. 
This has allowed for a consistent, and increased amount of food being 
made available for students. All six schools are able to provide breakfast, 
lunch and snacks for their students. 

Looking ahead As we move forward with continued funding, at least two schools are 
investigating the possibility of upgrading their facilities to be able to 
expand their options for what they are able to provide students and to 
provide more hot lunch options. 
 

Recommendations Accept as information 

Attachments? Yes____    No__X__ (list attachments) 
 

 

Form updated: November 2024 

Page 177 of 198



Form updated: October 2025 

 

 BOARD REPORT 

Title: Policy 8 - Committees of the Board - Finance & Facilities 
Committee 

Contact: Terry Brookes - Committee Chair 

Date Submitted: 5th November 2025 

Mandate  Policy 8 Committees of the Board 

● Monthly Report to the Board Meeting of the 12th November 2025 

Background ● The Finance & Facilities Committee met on Tuesday the 4th of 
November 2025. 

● The Committee appointed Terry Brookes as Committee Chair. 
● The Committee approved the Minutes from the previous meeting. 
● The main discussion item was the draft Finance & Facilities 

Committee schedule for the upcoming fiscal year. Of particular 
note was the process for the YK1 2026/27 budget development.  

Other Headings as 
appropriate. 

n/a 

Recommendations Receive as information. 

Attachments? 

 
 

  X Yes or      No    If yes, list attachments below: 

1. 2025-06-24 Committee Minutes  
2. 2025-11-4 Committee Minutes 

 

Page 178 of 198



YK1  June 24, 2025 - Finance & Facilities Committee Meeting Minutes             Page 1 of 2 

Yellowknife Education District No. 1 
Finance & Facilities Committee Meeting 

MINUTES 

June 24, 2025 @ 12:10 PM 
District Office Boardroom & Video Conference 

Committee Members Present: Trustee Bell (online), Trustee Brookes, Trustee Drew, 
Trustee Peters (online), Trustee Shortt,  Trustee Snaggs (online), and 
Trustee Wasylciw (online)  

Regrets: none 

Administration Present: Superintendent Shirley Zouboules, Secretary Treasurer Lisa Vass,  
Director of Operations Jordan Martin, Assistant Superintendent Graham Arts, 
Assistant Superintendent Landon Kowalzick, and 
Executive Assistant Pat Thagard 

Guests present: none 

Meeting Chairperson: Trustee Snaggs 

Meeting Recorder: Pat Thagard 

1. Meeting called to order at 12:17 PM.  Seven (7) committee members present.

2. Land Acknowledgement

Chairperson Snaggs respectfully acknowledge that we live, work, and learn on Chief
Drygeese Territory in the Akaitcho region, the traditional territory of the 
Yellowknives Dene First Nation. 

3. Declaration of Conflict of Interest

none declared

4. Approval of Agenda

Motion #: 01/06-24/24-25

I move that the Finance and Facilities Committee accept the agenda for the June 24, 2025, 
Finance and Facilities Committee meeting, as presented. 

Moved by: Trustee Peters   Seconded by: Trustee Drew Carried 

5. Approval of Minutes

Motion #: 02/06-24/24-25

I move that the Finance and Facilities Committee accept the Finance and Facilities 
Committee meeting minutes of May 27, 2025, as circulated. 

Moved by: Trustee Bell   Seconded by: Trustee Drew Carried 

6. Financial Report at May 31, 2025

Page 179 of 198



YK1  June 24, 2025 - Finance & Facilities Committee Meeting Minutes - Approved             Page 2 of 2 

Secretary Vass reviewed the Report and core budget including: 

➔ Invoicing from Transdev for bussing services have and continue to arrive very late and
are higher than expected. This may result in bussing expenses being potentially $160K
over what was expected.

➔ Medical travel is also higher than expected.
➔ There is an overage in the IT budget due to many deficiencies in the budget.

Trustee Short joined the meeting. 

➔ We are currently at a $2.043 million deficit for 2024-2025
Trustees had the following questions and discussions: 

➢ Are bussing invoices higher than in previous years?
Yes, however finance staff has been reviewing and comparing the invoices received to
prior years.  No anomalies have been noted. It was noted that inclusive schooling does
not contribute to the increase.

➢ There was discussion around current bus pass rates. The District office has requested
detailed information about bus rates.  Trustees suggested mapping out exactly what the
rates and processes are for bussing.

➢ At the current rate of increase in the deficit, the surplus will not last very long; it was
suggested that savings need to be planned and practices will need to be changed.

➢ Trustees asked what IT costs are higher than in the past.  The PowerSchool consultant
was required to provide more services to customize reports in PowerSchool for YK1.
Trustees suggested YK1 approach ECE with other school boards to get better bulk
pricing and efficiencies for the NWT and to have the consultant's work covered in
funding.  Administration noted that customizations are one-off tasks that, once done,
will not require further work.

➢ Trustees asked what the timelines are on the contract with Transdev.  Administration to
provide that information at the next Committee meeting.  Trustees made Administration
aware that the previous Superintendent modified the contract to allow for higher pay to
bus drivers.  Trustees would like to review the contract to see if any efficiencies can be
found.  Trustees noted that funding for bussing has not increased in some time and
would like to see the three Yellowknife school boards advocate for an increase.
Administration noted that there has been discussion about increasing fees and pointed
out that the current economic climate is not conducive to asking families to pay more.
Trustees asked if issues began when the bussing company began collecting fees.
Trustees suggested that if the contract with Transdev ends next year that a Request For
Proposal (RFP) be issued in late 2025.

7. Adjournment

Motion #: 03/06-24/24-25

I move that this Finance and Facilities Committee meeting be adjourned. 

Moved by: Trustee Wasylciw    Seconded by: Trustee Shortt Carried 

The meeting adjourned at 12:54 PM 

Next Finance and Facilities Committee meeting date: to be determined  

Page 180 of 198



 

Form date: April 2023 

BOARD REPORT 
Title Public Engagement & Advocacy Committee 

Contact David Wasylciw, Committee Chair 

Date Submitted November 6, 2025 

Mandate Policy 8 – Committees of the Board 

Background Committee minutes are submitted to the board as an update on 
committee discussions and progress. 

Summary In the Committee’s initial meeting(s), Trustees developed a plan of 
action for the year and areas to focus on tackling. 
The largest priority for the committee is how to better engage the YK1 
community and provide necessary information to students, parents 
and partners in education and advocacy. Students, Parents & 
Guardians are a key voice in the education system and maximizing 
that will be important as the organization moves forward. 
Finding new ways to engage parents/guardians is key with the 
change in Trustee/school assignments for PACs. 

Recommendations Accept the report as information 

Attachment? Committee Meeting Minutes 

 

Page 181 of 198



 
 
 

 
 

YELLOWKNIFE EDUCATION DISTRICT NO. 1 

BOARD of TRUSTEES 

PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT & ADVOCACY COMMITTEE 

MINUTES for November 1, 2025 – 12:10 PM 

In-person and online via Google Meet 

 
Trustees Present:​ ​ David Wasylciw, Jason Snaggs and Michellet Peters 
Regrets:​​ ​ ​ none 
Administration 
Present:​​ ​ ​ none 
Meeting Chairperson:​​ Trustee Wasylciw 
Meeting Recorder:​ ​ Trustee Wasylciw 
Agenda: 
1. Elect Chair​ ​ ​ ​ ​ 6. Awards 
2. Meeting Schedule​ ​ ​ ​ 7. Advocacy 
3. Media​​ ​ ​ ​ ​ 8. Priorities 
4. Parent/Community Engagement​​ 9. Next Meeting 
5. Election Preparations 
 
Minutes: 
1. Elect chair 

o ​Michelle moved David as Chair, Jason seconded, all in favour 
2. Meeting Schedule 

o ​Week after board meeting, Monday lunch time 
o ​Secondary in-person Trustee meeting in off-hours 

3. Media 
o ​Ask Pat to track YK1 related articles, consider “In the Media” section 

​ on the website 
o ​And weekly email to Trustees with previous week’s media sent to trustees 
o ​Follow up on media training for Trustees? 

Public Engagement & Advocacy Committee Meeting - November 1, 2025                         Page 1 of 2 

Page 182 of 198



 
4. Parent/Community Engagement 

o ​Community Survey 
o ​Annual Report 

●​ Take ToC and Outline to Board in December 
●​ If works after pilot, suggest adding to the workplan 
●​ Outsource Document Layout - get two sample layouts 

o ​PAC Chairs more often (recommend setting a minimum number, ie every 
​ two months) 
o ​Real Estate Agent/Community Meeting in Feb/March 
o ​Board General Meeting (based on Act) –Open House late January/early 
​ Feb, Night with the Board 

5. Election Preparations 
o ​Press Release in spring 
o ​Get candidates interested 
o ​Organize open house sessions for interested people 
o ​Trustee Presence at Tradeshow to talk about elections 

●​ Prepare pamphlet or sheet 
6. Awards 

o​  Sacred Feather 
●​ Nominations in Feb 
●​ Invite Doreen Cleary as an elder to help review applications 

7. Advocacy 
o ​Utilize PAC Chairs 
o ​Data from Community Survey 
o ​Annual Report 
o ​Annual Minister-Board Meeting 

●​ Needs agenda and structure to ensure high-level governance 
8. Priorities 

o ​Capital o&amp;m 
o ​Staffing 
o ​Inclusive Schooling 

9 Next Meeting 
o ​Monday Nov 17 th @ Noon​ ​ ​ Meeting adjourned at 2:35pm 

Public Engagement & Advocacy Committee Meeting - November 1, 2025                         Page 2 of 2 

Page 183 of 198



 

 BOARD REPORT 
 

Title:  Labour Relations 

Contact: Landon Kowlazik, Assistant Superintendent HR & Learning 

Date Submitted: November 5, 2025 

Mandate ●​ Cultivate a culture of holistic wellness 

●​ Honour and celebrate Indigenous Language and Culture for all 
learners 

●​ Ensure inclusive, equitable and authentic learning experiences  

●​ Foster critical understanding of local, national and global issues  

Background  YK1 values the positive relationship established with the Northwest 
Territories Teachers Association. 
 The collective agreement with the NWTTA  ended August 31, 2025 and a 
new agreement has been ratified as of November 3, 2025. 
This three year agreement will provide stability for both the NWTTA 
members and YK1. 

Looking ahead  
 

Recommendations Move to approve 
Move that the YK1 Board of Trustees approve the ratified 
agreement between YK1 and the NWTTA for a three year 
collective agreement. 

Attachments? Yes__x__    No____ (list attachments) 
YK1-USW MOA 
 

 

Form updated: November 2024 

Page 184 of 198



Page 185 of 198



Page 186 of 198



Page 187 of 198



Page 188 of 198



Page 189 of 198



Page 190 of 198



Page 191 of 198



Page 192 of 198



Page 193 of 198



Page 194 of 198



Page 195 of 198



Page 196 of 198



Upcoming Events:   
November & December 2025 

  

 

Page 1 of 2  

 

November 2025                                                 Hindu Heritage Month, 
                                                                      Lebanese Heritage Month, 
                                                                                               Movember 
                         

Sun Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday 

26 27 28 29 30 31 1 

 

   

 

Halloween  

2 3 4 5 6 7 8 

Daylight 
Saving Time 
Ends 

Agenda 
items due 
at 12 noon 

 Board Reports 
due at 3 PM 
 
 
Veterans’ Week 
Begins  

  Indigenous 
Veterans Day

 

9 10 11 12 13 14 15 

  Remembrance Day Board COW 
 
Regular Board 
Meeting 

World 
Kindness Day 

  

16 17 18 19 20 21 22 

 Ed. Leaders 
Meeting 

 Challenge Cup 
 
NJM & RLN  
PAC Meeting 

Hanukkah 
 
National Child 
Day 
 
Transgender 
Day of 
Remembrance 

Board 
Newsletter 
item due 
 
 

Holomodor 
Memorial 
Day 

23 24 25 26 27 28 29 

 
 
 
 
 

    Nov 30th 

 Finance & 
Facilities 
Committee 
Meeting 
 
Board 
Education Info 
Session 

Policy & 
Governance 
Committee 
Meeting 

   

 

Page 197 of 198



Upcoming Events:   
November & December 2025 

  

 

Page 2 of 2  

 
 

December 2025 

Sun Monday      

30 1 2 3 4 5 6 

 

Cyber Monday  Intern’l Day of 
Persons with 
Disabilities 
 
MHS Winter 
Concert  
 
SJF Concert  
7 PM 

MHS Winter 
Concert (older 
students) 

 National Day 
of 
Remembrance 
and Action on 
Violence 
Against 
Women 

7 8 9 10 11 12 13 

Nat’l 
Letter 
Writing 
Day 

  Human 
Rights Day 
 
NJM Winter 
Concert 
rehearsal  
1:30 PM 

NJM Winter 
Concert 
6:30 PM 
 
RLN Winter 
Concert 
6:30 PM 

  

14 15 16 17 18 19 20 

H
an

uk
ka

h 
be

gi
ns

 a
t 

ni
gh

tf
al

l 

Itlo Winter 
Concert 
6:30 PM 

NJM PAC 
meeting 

Nat’l Maple 
Syrup Day 

 Nat’l Ugly 
Sweater Day 

Winter  
Break 
Begins 

21 22 23 24 25 26 27 

Yule 
begins 
 
Winter 
Solstice 

Hanukkah ends 
at nightfall 

  Christmas Day Kwanza begins 
 
Boxing Day 

 

28 29 30 31 1 2 3 

Nat’l Call 
a Friend 
Day 

  New Year’s Eve Happy 2026! 

 
 
Kwanza ends  

 

Winter Break 
ends 

Sunday,  
January 4th 

 

Page 198 of 198


	5.0 Adoption of Agenda Nov 12, 2025
	6.1i Skills Canada NWT, Melissa Syer - presentation Nov 12, 2025
	6.2i Arctic Response, Jessica Morris - Presentation Nov 12, 2025
	Yellowknife Education District No.1 Update on OH&S Programming
	WSCC Legal Requirement OH&S Regulations:
	Mandatory Components of OH&S Program:
	Mandatory Components of OH&S Program (Continued)
	(2)	An occupational health and safety program for a work site must include:�
	YK1 023 Form OH&S Policy Statement
	(2)	An occupational health and safety program for a work site must include:
	(2)	An occupational health and safety program for a work site must include:
	(2)	An occupational health and safety program for a work site must include:
	(2)	An occupational health and safety program for a work site must include:
	(2)	An occupational health and safety program for a work site must include:
	(2)	An occupational health and safety program for a work site must include:
	(2)	An occupational health and safety program for a work site must include:
	(2)	An occupational health and safety program for a work site must include:
	(2)	An occupational health and safety program for a work site must include:
	Yellowknife Education District No.1 OH&S Manual:�
	(2)	An occupational health and safety program for a work site must include:
	(2)	An occupational health and safety program for a work site must include:
	YK1 018 Inventory Of Controlled Products 
	(2)	An occupational health and safety program for a work site must include:
	(2)	An occupational health and safety program for a work site must include:
	 YK1 016 Steps For A Work Refusal
	(2)	An occupational health and safety program for a work site must include:
	Future Requirements needed for Yellowknife Education District No.1 
	Future Requirements needed for Yellowknife Education District No.1 �
	Future Requirements needed for Yellowknife Education District No.1
	Yellowknife School Division Forms created as per Nov 12 2025 (available for review)
	 The Importance of Implementing an OHS Program in Schools
	Legal and Ethical Responsibilities
	The Role of Staff Participation
	Benefits of an Effective OHS Program
	Implementation Strategies�
	Conclusion
	Questions?

	7.1 2025-10-14 Regular Board Meeting DRAFT Minutes
	7.2 2025-10-31 Special Board Meeting Minutes - DRAFT
	8.1i Board Action Items as at Nov 7, 2025
	8.2 Summary of YK1 Music Programs - A.Supt Arts
	Microsoft Word - 2025-11-06 - Cover Sheet - District Music Programs.docx.pdf
	2025-11-06 - Fine Arts Details - .pdf
	2025-11-06 - Fine Arts Details 2.pdf
	SJF Arts Programming.pdf
	Pages from en_arts-education_k-9.pdf

	8.3i School Class Size Report Nov 12, 2025
	11.1 Organizational Chart - YK1 Staffing Structure & Funding Sources Nov 12, 2025
	11.2  Five-Year Maintenance Plan Progress and Reassembly of the Facilities Committee Nov 12, 2025
	11.3i Homebase Tier 4 Stabilization Education Partnership Nov 12, 2025
	11.3ii Homebase Tier 4 Stabilization Ed Partnership Nov 12, 2025
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	Purpose:  
	Delivery model:  
	Key supports & programming:  
	Rationale:  
	Outcomes & metrics:  
	Funding & designation:  
	Estimated resources (high level):  
	Governance:  
	Student Population & Needs 
	Program Structure 
	Educational Delivery 
	Funding & Accountability 
	Partnerships & Support 
	Long-Term Goals 
	High-level Budget Items (suggested) 


	11.4i  Request for International Travel - 2 applications Nov 12, 2025
	11.4ii Request for International Travel Nov 12, 2025
	11.4iii Request for International Travel Nov 12, 2025
	11.5i Board Workplan Nov 12, 2025
	11.5ii Work Plan - v2.1 (Changes in red) Nov 12, 2025
	11.5iii Work Plan - v2.1 (DRAFT) Nov 12, 2025
	11.6i Public Access to Committee Meetings  Nov 12, 2025
	12.1.0i Chairperson's Report, cover Nov 12, 2025
	12.1iii Event Summary_ Spike It (Volleyball) 2025-2026
	12.4.0i Superintendent's Board Report Nov 12, 2025
	12.4.0ii Tree of Peace Gathering Nov 12, 2025
	12.4.0iii October 2025 Network Gathering Recap Nov 12, 2025
	12.4.1i A.Supt of Curriculumm & Learning Report Nov 12, 2025
	2025-11-06 - Cover Sheet - Assistant Superintendent's Report.pdf
	2025-11-05 - AS Board Report - Google Docs.pdf
	2025-11-06 -  DRAFT Safe Schools Plan and Emergency Response Plan Template 2025-2026 (Sept 2025).docx.pdf
	ministerial_home_schooling_1996.pdf

	12.4.2i A.Supt HR & Learning Report Nov 12, 2025
	12.4.2ii Enrollment Report Nov 12, 2025
	12.4.3i Secretary Treasurer Board Report Nov 12, 2025
	12.4.4v Director of Operations Report Nov 12, 2025
	13.2 COW Agenda Nov 12, 2025
	13.2.0ii 2025-10-14 COW Meeting Minutes - DRAFT
	13.2iv Federal School Food Program Nov 12, 2025
	13.3i 2025-11-05 Brd Mtg Cover Sheet for Finance & Facilities Committee
	13.3ii Finance & Facilities Committee Minutes Approved
	2025-06-24 Finance & Facilities Committee Meeting Minutes Draft.pdf

	13.6i Public Engagement & Advocacy Committee, cover
	13.6ii 2025-11-01 Public Engagement & Advocacy Committee Meeting Minutes DRAFT
	14.1.1i Approval of NWTTA Collective Agreement
	14.1.1ii NWTTA- YK1 Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) Nov 12, 2025
	15.0 Upcoming Events for Board of Trustees Calendar Nov & Dec 2025



